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They're Flying High

Lie in the dark and listen 

It's clear tonight and they're flying high 

Hundreds of them, perhaps thousands 

Riding the moonlit sky 

Men, machinery, bombs and maps 
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Coffee, sandwiches and fleece‑lined boots 

Bones and muscles, minds and hearts 

English saplings with English roots

Deep in the earth they have left behind 

Lie in the dark and let them go 

Lie in the dark and listen

Lie in the dark and listen

City magnates and steel contractors

Factory workers and politicians

Soft, hysterical, little actors

Ballet dancers, reserved musicians

Safe in warm, civilian beds

Count your profits and count your sheep

Just turn over and try to sleep

Lie in the dark and let them go

There is a debt, you'll forever owe

Lie in the dark and listen 

They're going over waves and waves 

High above villages, streams and hills 

Country churches and little graves 

And little citizens worried dreams 

Very soon they'll have reached the sea. 

And far below them wi1l be the bays 

And cliffs and sands where they used to be 

Taken from their summer holidays 

Lie in the dark and listen 

There is a world ‑you'll never know 

Lie in the dark and listen.

Noel Coward

INTRODUCTION 

After a recent perusal of my POW diary it is belatedly apparent to me and family that it leaves many possible questions unanswered and many loose threads hanging in limbo – it is akin to a house built without a foundation. I hope to now provide one by complementing the diary with remarks on, my mind set when finalizing it, pre-squadron training and squadron activities prior to our last fatal trip of December 22, 1944, plus some subsequent information gleaned from  our air force records.

The diary was mainly written during my stay in hospital from August 15 to December, 1945. I apparently had been fighting and hiding my fear and revulsion of war and this coupled with the Pathfinder and POW experience, including injuries sustained, culminated in a nearly complete mental and physical breakdown. The details in the diary came from notated scraps of paper I had managed to keep while in custody and then carry home, supplemented by related memories. I believe  in retrospect that I subconsciously and purposefully softened many of my harsher experiences in deference to my parents, especially my mother, who had agonized over the loss of my older brother Percy at age 21 (also an air force officer) in December 1942. This was followed by my missing in December 1944 and in each case without final advice of our fate until the following April, and in my brother’s case a fatal outcome.

(((((
I joined the Air Force at age 19 in August 1942 at Manning Depot in Toronto. This was purely basic training including marching in war bond parades. Bett worked close by our route and would come to wave as our group marched by. This was followed by a posting to Centralia airdrome (#9STS) mainly involving ground duties in a flight environment. Then on to the Initial Elementary Training School (IETS) in the Eglington Hunt Club in Toronto.  At this school there was a systematic and thorough grading as to which of several disciplines you were best suited for. It seemed that everyone wanted to be a pilot, but I positively from the start of testing opted for navigation only. 

It quickly became obvious to the instructors that I’d be a disaster as a pilot and that my aptitudes were centred in the navigation discipline so I was then directed to that stream for preliminary training to define and determine my end possibilities and subsequent training. Unfortunately I failed one of the first navigation exams and this was very likely to result in my immediate transfer to a different discipline. This happened shortly after word of my brother going missing. In any event I asked to be immediately given an interview with the commanding officer of our section, Squadron Leader Hunter. I explained to him that I was still determined to be only a navigator and would he consider giving me another chance. He eventually recalled me and said he would, even though it was extremely unusual and then told me he had been informed, I presume by one of the instructors, of Percy’s fate and my distress. I believe this was the main reason for his decision. In any event I was very relieved and grateful and in the end was posted to the Air Navigation School at Crumlin (near London), #4 Air Observation School, for approximately four months of mainly classroom training. These three courses, ie. Manning Pool, Centralia Airdrome and Elementary School took approximately eight months.

The course at Air Navigation School from 15 May 1943 to 1 October, 1943 was the prelude to obtaining final clearance as a navigator, usually before going overseas. In England we heard but could not positively confirm that one of the Crumlin courses just prior to ours had been completely lost at sea in a sub attack. My course was #76B consisting of 28 potential navigators. (There were nine separate Ground  Work subjects: navigation elements, navigation theory, navigation exercise, MET, Signals Practice, Air or Rec, RECCE, Photo, Armament, and six Air Work subjects: Navigation  Day, Navigation  Night, Log keeping, RECCE, Photo, MET Observation.)

There were periodic exams throughout the course and a final mark was tabulated for each subject.  My log book records 42 flights involving 107 hours and 35 minutes. One particular flight I vividly recall with a pilot. I believe his name was Taylor, well known for his low flying ability. In any event we briefly flew along a railway track so low that I could read the station name signs. It was reported that he once came back with a sheaf of wheat attached to his undercarriage. All flights were in twin engine ansons.

Exams held in the 11th, 15th and 17th  weeks were considered to be especially important. I recall studying most of  the night in the washroom for them. The 17th week one was categorized as the turning point – as I recall we were each put in a separate glass cubicle with a chart map, a log and headphones. The examiner sitting in front of the room communicated with each of us by phone periodically giving us all the necessary details for a simulated flight to a fictitious enemy target and we had to closely follow his directions involving changes of course at designated turning points, air speed, height, wind direction, velocity etc., -- in short all the elements involved in a real war time trip. Each log and chart was taken at the announced end of the flight and examined for accuracy and I presume also compared to a model log and chart prepared for this exam. The twist to this particular exam was that the trip started in the southern hemisphere where the plane compass deviation is the opposite to our northern hemisphere to which we were accustomed and expected to be sent. Failure to be immediately aware of this twist would dramatically adversely affect the navigation from take-off on.

Fortunately  I managed to pass successfully and graduated with a commission as a pilot officer navigator slated for an immediate overseas posting. (Only top third of students were commissoned with Wings at the end of training)

Bett, Mom and Dad and my younger brother Donnie (for whom our last Lancaster was named “Dauntless Donald”) came to the graduation ceremony followed by a dinner, after which Bett and I went dancing. After approximately ten days leave spent at Wingham I received notice to proceed to Halifax for embarkation. I left home approximately October 13, 1943 and I still remember walking down the road to town and not daring to look back. It was a sad farewell.

I stayed at Bett’s home the next day and remember Bett and I stayed up all night in her front room and departed for Union Station at approximately 8 am and again a poignant farewell as I boarded the train for Halifax. At Halifax we were barracked for a few days and then marched to the harbour to board the ship. I can’t remember the name but think it was the Mauritania. There was very tight security on board but lots of card playing etc. Insofar as I could tell we travelled alone at full speed. My bed was in Section A8. It was one of a canvas hammock group layered six to eight high. I recall having to be an acrobat to climb in as the vertical in between space was very small. I believe there were 300 to 400 of us in this section, one of several in the ship. At night I’d lie and listen to terrific jokes coming from all corners and ache with laughter. The trip over was relatively calm although we had one night of a top alert with violent zig zagging.

I’ll never forget the first sight of land early one morning as a fighter aircraft came out to escort us in and I recall a small aircraft carrier and other war ships nearby. It was late night before we all disembarked and stayed most of the night on the open landing pier. I think the port was Grenoch. The next morning a small group of air force personnel were posted to Sidmouth, on the Devon coast. The training here was mainly to teach us survival tactics in enemy territory. The instructors were British commando types, very keen and in terrific shape (especially compared to us). They seemed to relish putting us through the tough outdoor courses which complemented classroom work. Outdoor training was said to be based on regular army commando training- ie. crawling through streams covered with barbed wire, climbing cliffs etc. The culmination was being dropped off separately at an unknown place during the night and told to somehow get back to base entirely on our own resources as though we were in enemy territory. This course lasted approximately eight weeks and certainly improved our physiques and sharpened our mental faculties.

Then it was a posting to #7 (Operational) Advanced Flying Unit, Course 21 at Bishop Court in Ireland on the coast near Belfast. My log book indicates we started flying there on February 5, 1944 and records 16 flights with total flying time of 46 hours 40 minutes mainly over the Irish Sea in Ansons. I particularly recall seeing Dublin to the south fully lit up in contrast to complete blackouts in the north. Our main thrust here on ground and in flight was to learn to use the shore flashing beacons and brush up on astral and radar navigation. We were given one very short leave in Belfast but warned to never go near the Falls St. area, the air force uniform was a red flag there and violence could be expected. We were glad to leave early in April as aircraft icing over the sea was common and extremely hazardous.

The next posting was to #22 Operational Training Unit as Course 63 in Wellesbourne airdrome in Yorkshire. The log book shows the first flight there on April 11, 1944, followed by 23 more with a total flying time of 76 hours in Wellingtons. The big event here was forming a crew and to do this a number of each discipline (ie. navigators, pilots, air gunners, flight engineers, wireless operators, bomb aimers) were put in a large room with refreshments and left to mingle. By empathy and lots of instinct and discussion crews would be formed. It was amazing but true and it worked! Our pilot Joe Tite proved to be first class in all areas and quickly formed us into a disciplined, cohesive and dedicated crew. In the air we had almost complete silence except for my giving course changes.

Question – Wllingtons did not carry engineers, so did this take place at the end of the Wellington course?

It was intensive training here as a crew, including a trip to Paris and Reims in France dropping leaflets (fairly dangerous). I feel I worked especially hard here and luckily was graded above average. 

We left Wellesbourne near the end of May for nearby #1664 Conversion Unit in Dishforth, Yorkshire with 11 flights recorded for 29 hours and 30 minutes flying time. The main thrust here was our conversion as a crew to four engine bombers (Halifaxes) which we did successfully and I was lucky again to be graded above average. The next and final test was at Warboys Navigational Training Unit which we discovered on our arrival was the Pathfinders Force Training Unit and I’ll never forget it. While checking in to our barracks on arrival we were summoned to a quick briefing for a flight on Lancaster W. I was given a very brief time to prepare the flight plan. The target and course were marked on the map by longitude and latitude. We were quickly  installed in the plane and immediately senior officers came on board with one beside most of us. The navigational officer immediately covered my radar set with a sheet and as I recall our wireless set was periodically turned off.

Question – Seems the Warboys was a test to see if the crew would measure up to Pathfinder status as normally only experienced cres went to Pathfinders. Also question if Conversion Unit was in fact on Lancasters as some training would be required to convert from Halifax to Lancaster

In effect we were partially blind navigationally but I was fortunate the trip crossed and recrossed the coast and so I had the rear gunner take sightings on coastal landmarks and transposed them to my chart and log. Somehow we ended up over a town very close to the time we were given to arrive at the target marked in latitude and longitude and returned safely to base on time. To this day I don’t know if we were actually over the intended target. In any event they took my log and chart with all their notes in for our debriefing which was thorough and intense. I guess we were, as a crew, judged ready for pathfinding as after only three more days and five short flights on our own and a total of 16 hours flying time we were posted directly to Canadian Pathfinder Squadron 405 (City of Vancouver) in Gransden Lodge (near Cambridge) arriving July 1, 1944. At the time my log book shows a full total of 160.5 hours of day flying and 115.40 of night flying.

Regarding the squadron experience, I am attaching herewith self-explanatory data which are far superior to anything I can write.

a) a full page article on 405 Pathfinding featuring Reggie Lane, our Commanding Officer (a group captain at 24) from the Toronto Star of July 15, 1944. Our crew was designated as “blind sky marker” usually going in  bad weather and then marking above cloud cover by hanging flares. (Appendix A)

b) A full list of our operational trips (35) including total air time to our last fatal flight- ie. 113 day and 124 night (Appendix B)

c) A detailed resume of 405 operations during part of December 1944, including our last trip of December 22, 1944 (Appendix C)

d) Our wireless operator was able to obtain most of my logs and charts when he returned to the squadron from prison camp. I am enclosing two as a matter of interest. For example, it is interesting to examine the flight plan at the log beginning and compare the planned time of arrival at target to the actual time later in the log. On arrival at the squadron I was assigned a seasoned mentor, Flight Lieutenant Paddy Nairn, who checked every log closely, marking errors and giving suggestions. These show on some of the logs. Insofar as I could determine we were the first crew to go to 405 Squadron without  prior operational experience. This is referred to in (a) above , citing 20 to 30 operational trips as the norm prior to arrival. (I could be quite wrong here, in any event I mention it purely as interesting and certainly not to suggest we were anything special.) (Appendix D)

But indeed, they must have been!

A further interesting and somewhat ironic twist regarding our last trip is that I was always dreading December and praying to get through it remembering Percy’s downfall was on December 16, 1942 . Also some of us were planning to spend New Year’s Eve in Edinburgh as we were expecting a leave and Joe (our pilot) felt we would well be finished at 35 straight and be sent home. Unfortunately we were negative on all counts.

I could go on indefinitely about our trip experiences but feel a special few will suffice.

On one of our trips to Stuttgart we were coned by searchlights (ie. tracked and then suddenly zeroed in by a battery of lights with guns firing up the light cone automatically). I understood the usual evasive tactics is to climb out of the cone but instead Joe went into a full spiral steep dive. All my charts etc. flew off my table and I was on the floor retrieving them while urgently telling Joe to slow down as we’d be on target too soon. I then had no idea what was happening. We escaped with some minor damage. The next night on going into our officers mess there was a very large poster over the bar depicting our aircraft going straight down and me on the floor yelling for the pilot to slow down. We all had a good laugh and I was kidded for quite some time.

On the return in darkness across the North Sea in terrible weather from a very long flight to Stettin (8 hours 45 minutes) I suddenly got signals on our radar that indicated one or two islands below where on my chart none existed anywhere near my estimated position. I nearly panicked as in that high northern latitude during our return flight I thought that maybe our compass had become affected and we could be flying far off course, which would be fatal over the sea. I frantically double checked my work and all our gauges and could find nothing wrong so I kept Joe on the planned course and we arrived back okay as scheduled. During debriefing it was established that other navigators had reported this and it was attributed to heavy ice pellets massing in the clouds thick and wide enough to deflect back radar signals from an aircraft. Also on our return  our ground crew noted next morning some small holes in our fuselage and it was then considered that a German fighter may have been underneath us firing up by radar. German fighters regularly picked enemy planes up at the coast on their return flight to destroy them over the sea where survival chances were minimal. We’ll probably never know the truth but at the time I was sure frightened and it was a strange, harrowing experience.

One night on returning (I can’t recall the trip target) we had serious engine trouble and were forced to land in very heavy fog at an alternate airdrome. Prior to attempting the landing Joe advised the control tower that we were in trouble and ordered the wireless operator, Jerry, to fire a red flare on the landing approach. I was standing near my desk where the flares were and in the panic Jerry ran his hands up and down my legs while frantically searching for the flares. We finally located and fired a red flare and Joe managed to land even though the fog was almost ground zero. They had an ambulance and fire truck at the ready for us but thank God they were not needed. The station Commanding Officer personally commended Joe for the best landing he’d ever seen in such conditions. We kidded Jerry for a long time for his familiarity with me.

Over Kiel one night the front part of the mid-upper gunners turret perspex was partly destroyed apparently by a piece of flak. He never reported it and carried on until our return to base, even though he must have been freezing as we flew at 16-18,000 feet. It was a display of terrific stoicism and dedication. One night over the target a German fighter came straight at us from the front and at point blank range zoomed above us without firing a shot. We assumed he had no ammunition left. The bomb aimer lying in the nose was so mesmerized that he choked and could barely speak. I knew nothing of this at the time and Joe told me later he could have literally touched the fighter as it went over his cockpit.

Information I received later is attached:

1. Self-explanatory email from a German source identifying the pilot who shot us down. (Appendix E)

2. RAF report regarding the crash:   (Appendix F) Our rear gunner told me there were two fighters in our vicinity – one as a decoy used to locate our exact position. He came in first and was fired upon and almost immediately the killer plane came out of the dark sky above and ahead of us, raking the whole front area at point blank range and he believes that Joe (our pilot) likely then fell over the throttles putting us in a steep, uncontrolled dive. I note above report (ie. the RAF report) of an early plane break up which tends to support his theory. In any event it has become clear that the three survivals were totally miraculous, especially as two of us (Gerry the wireless operator and myself) were blown out and the rear gunner found in the snow approximately 200 to 300 feet from the crash site. God knows how he got there if as reported the tail broke off. It was also miraculous, considering the fact that the beautiful memorial window installed in the Gransden Lodge Church attests to 801 aircrew killed. This is a high casualty count relative to the numbers of air crew involved and considering Pathfinders began in late 1943. (see Appendix 1 re: GC Lane).

(((((
From day one and throughout my war days I honestly felt like Frodo in The Lord of the Rings, that the war was a struggle between light and an implacable darkness. This still gives me some solace for being involved. I feel no special pride, it is basically a no-win situation in which the personal choice comes to necessity (which I chose) versus succumbing to the darkness.

July, 2002

LIFE IN KRIEGELAND

TO MY DEAREST BETT:

In the seeming stone age of long ago when I was back in good old Blighty, a long letter to you was being written daily, in the hopes that you could spend a few pleasant evenings reading this chapter of my life. Now that "kriegie" days are here, with time as the main commodity, my thoughts are turning to a continuation of this epistle on old scraps of biscuit boxes etc.

On December 22nd, the battle order was up about eleven in the morning, and much to our surprise, Joe Tite's name was on the list, so it was an early lunch and down through a gripping fog – rush trip due to crucial time in Battle of the Bulge (carried flares with some bombs, 7 aircraft were diverted from Gransden on return due to fog) --to the big, main briefing room. All the lads expected it to be scrubbed, but after donning flying kit and scrambling on the transport, with the best wishes of the lads and I'm sure a silent prayer in each of our hearts, Jerry, Joe, Matty and the rest of us climbed up the little ladder into faithful "D" for "Donald." Soon, with oxygen, compasses, turrets checked and all the other necessary odd jobs finished, I looked out to see the runway sink slowly from sight in a murky sea of fog and in a few minutes it was set course and off on our 35th Pathfinder trip to Bingen, a small marshalling yard.

The first event was the beam going unserviceable, but of course that didn't seem much and on we pressed through much clearer starlit skies, everything going fine and good old Red taking fixes every three minutes on his radar equipment. I sure would be hopeless without him. Since the special equipment stubbornly refused to function, our engineer Fred was quite happy to drop visually. In two more hours I told him that our estimated time of arrival was up in four more minutes and in front he could see the red and green target indicators; with "steady, left, left" the great ship settled down and soon shuddered in fright as the flares came along the bombsight to the graticule and down spiralled the bombs, leaving number one position filled with flares – dropped at 1831; I understand a special load due to crisis in the Bulge battle.

The first leg from the target took just three minutes and off on the long leg to the coast, all the lads confident that soon another trip will be over, until suddenly Matty says calmly "better go port Joe" and so off we go to the accompaniment of chattering guns, then Joe mutters "Gosh I wish I had a gun in the nose" as the night fighter zoomed straight across our nose.

With an "Aw Hell, that guy hasn't got a clue, he's gone away off to starboard" Matty made me a lot happier, but just a split second later there was a terrific crash in our bomb bay. Red looked at me as we snapped on chutes and began to move up. I can plainly recall sitting for a few seconds on the edge of the pilot seat feeling blindly for Joe, to no avail, then ripping my helmet off and starting down the steps to the escape hatch. It seemed then that the old bird twisted in agony and began a horrible spin. I was tossed back and vividly picture by the flickering light of the grasping flames, the nose Perspex shot away and one lad lying full length, struggling to get out the small opening. With a supreme effort, I tried moving as the hungry flames caught my hair, but it seemed hopeless and my mind decided that this was the end, while my body desperately tried to escape. That is all that comes back through my memory, the next was floating down, pulling the rip cord and being on mother earth just 50 feet from the blazing kite and right in front of a farm house.

Seemingly unhurt, I unclamped  the chute, burned it, tried quite unsuccessfully from all sides to get near the plane to assist any of the lads, hopped a nearby fence to see a woman dash into the house with a wee baby in her arms and a man slam and bolt the door. They seemed to think I was a paratrooper, but I would have been glad to explain that that was the farthest thought from my mind. A very frightened airman then hobbled down a narrow road and off on a small side path on my right, with the aircraft now behind and off to my right furiously burning. The whole hollow was lit up and in my ears the sound of ammunition popping off.  Soon the rugged path came to a heavy bush on one hand with a big, meandering river far below on the other, and then round a bend from which I could see  an inoffensive looking bridge, at the farther side of which perched a farm house sleeping peacefully in the velvet moonlight.

Needless to say my mental stop sign flashed red and undecided, I stood on the path. I figured the bridge would be guarded and it was as I could faintly see moonlight glinting on a sentry’s helmet as he paced back and forth. On the right, a deep slit trench aimlessly snaking along and up the side of a hill covered with fir trees caught my eye, a thorough investigation revealing little, except a place to hide my Mae West life jacket and an opportunity to decide a course of action. With no chance of going on it seemed best to hike up through the bushes via the trench and across to what I presumed was a village, from excited noises coming from that direction, and hopefully to a road.  Up the trench through the closely huddled fir trees I scrambled, then at the hill top across a large, snow covered field to the village edge where the sound of shouting Germans mixed with the sharper "yap, yap" of dogs, brought my hesitant footsteps to a full halt. I then came across a pit in the field, full of vegetables covered with straw and hid there for a while, still very scared and bewildered.

By this time the starboard leg was badly swollen and it was just about hopeless to walk. The snow was very deep and I had light shoes only. So there seemed little chance, but I decided to try going right through the village and accordingly started down the road. I passed darkened houses, from which emanated a gabble of German and on to the other side, completely unchallenged. In the crisp, bracing night air walking was fine, but presently the port leg began to swell and it was impossible to make any speed, so I determined to seek help in the next village, which luckily hove into sight after a couple of hours uneventful tramp.

The first human I saw was a grizzled old farmer who seemed very doubtful about having a "terror flyer" (he found me lying on the road) as his guest, but the old boy carried me into his meager farmhouse, where I was deposited on a dilapidated armchair. I had a bullet wound across the top of my skull, had broken my pelvis on one side and apparently the blood vessels in my leg were all broken. Also, my hair was burned on one side. Being weary and scared, I didn't truly appreciate the two lovely frauleins who began to wash my face of blood and rather crudely cut the hair from one side of the old wooden block, however that was the least of my worries. 

It seems then that I passed out as the next realization was of lying on a bench behind the table with a German Wehrmacht officer forcing water between my teeth and then beginning a long series of questions regarding the remainder of the crew. By pretending I was too dazed and stupid, (which wasn't very difficult) to understand him, I was able to evade any answers. Soon the room became crowded with army lads, two of them thoroughly searching my clothing, while another lad did some more bandaging. Actually they were very kind. After about ten minutes rest, the room snapped to attention, as evidently a senior officer strutted in, ordering my removal at once. Thus began a quite cool drive through some lovely country of the Third Reich.

After being driven in an open Jeep with two army guards, past magnificent, snow capped peaks crowned in moonlight, and numerous stops, the driver pulled into a dark huddle of buildings. One of these, which we entered, as of course I had company every minute, was an old pub, in one room of which sat six German Army officers about a rough hewn table decorated with a smoldering, weary oil lamp. Once again the officer in charge spoke in perfect English. "What is your squadron?” “Where are your crew?" and so on. Of course I couldn't answer and, much to my surprise, he didn't press me, or even use threatening language. He sent for a doctor who examined the head and leg wounds and did the bandaging once more.

In a few minutes it was off again on a two hour trip passing through many little villages crowded with Jerry soldiers and in strange, contrast, the open country seemed so peaceful and silent as the full moon dressed the resting hills in a nightgown of sheer yellow. I found it hard to imagine that soon war would ravage this peaceful scene. With a start my reveries were forgotten as a guard stepped out, ordered us to halt and demanded our papers. With German thoroughness, he checked everything and directed my two companions to take the "Americano" into a narrow room where my eyes fell on two rather young Gestapo (ie S.S.) officers sitting at each end of an oval table drinking ale while writing letters. With a very snappy click of the heels and a "Heil Hitler" the guards handed me over to these seemingly keen lads of the Fuehrer's Reich.

Here came my first real scare as the youngest officer, a red headed, thin-faced boy, pulled out his revolver and while pointing it my way began to clean the gun and ask many questions. It must seem strange but my first thoughts were of shows which I had seen of swastika‑marked Germans and I still couldn't seem to believe that here before me was a real, live one who was a keen Nazi. From sheer stupidness I told him I could remember nothing and must have looked the part, as after 15 minutes he got a little tired of it, put his gun away and called in the guard.

The Germans must love to travel by night as our tour continued for almost an hour, finally coming to a halt before a lonely country house, being escorted into a very tiny room, to be seated before a German, bespectacled and quite pleasant looking. His questions were entirely different and more of a political nature, such as "How do you American and Britishers feel toward our super race?" and "How do you like the devilish Bolshevists?"

My reply was "I'd rather not discuss it" and after a little persuasion he gave up and began to tell me of Germany's plans to split our armies in twain, invade England and thus win the struggle quickly. In my opinion his faith in victory was very strong. Just after four o'clock he led me into an adjoining room where two soldiers shattered the stillness with their snoring, one of these he awakened and in German apparently ordered him to fetch some straw. Here I spent a rather sleepless night on the straw with the guard standing by the door, thoughts of my dearest little Bett and home kept passing through my rather excited mind and I prayed to God that they wouldn't worry too much over me.

As a blushing dawn stole in, forecasting a lovely, warm day, the guard ordered me to arise and be seated at the table as a hefty fraulein came in to set before me a piece of black bread and a cup of water, neither of which I could touch. Presently a touring car arrived at the front door and the first leg of my journey to the hospital began, although at the time I was wonder​ing just what my fate was to be.
For a half hour we rolled along a wide highway jammed with an incongruous mixture of very modern, heavy Tiger tanks and many horse drawn wagons until arriving at a small, tattered village. Here after many enquiries and fussing about, the driver lodged me in a small slaughter house where I lay or the floor beside a boiler of water and a full rack of knives. Apparently the civilians hadn't seen many airmen as many came in to stand and stare and curse a little, while one rather stout old boy with thick, horn‑rimmed glasses came over and kicked me three or four times in the legs. I felt rather sorry for him as an English speaking corporal told me that this man had lost all his family in a bombing, no wonder he felt so bitter toward me. Thank God, not too much time dragged by before the guard returned to carry me down the street past the rather hostile populace and laid the stretcher on a bridge and then in a half hour or so into a dilapidated Red Cross van filled with Jerry soldiers in full battle dress who weren't too delighted to see an "Englander" as they called me. They put me on the floor boards between the soldiers.

The hospital was quite large, and modern with white clad nuns scurrying about the bare cold aisles. To a white‑walled, rather forbidding room was I taken, where six wounded American privates were lying on the bare floor. As my eyes wandered about the room, a familiar uniform attracted my attention and—on closer inspection it proved to be faithful old Matty, our rear gunner, who had the rather dubious honor of being its occupant. My heart ached for him as he was bandaged from head to toe, with his face gashed very badly and also burned. The poor lad hardly knew I was there but I tried to encourage him while not letting on to the attendant Germans that he was one of our crew. I gave him a piece of chocolate and told him not to give any information. I said “Don’t tell the bastards anything!” and he later remembered that. Our conversation was abruptly terminated as two stretcher bearers came in and carried my stout form into a very large operating room where I was placed on a white topped table as a burly, war‑hardened doctor probed my legs for possible breaks—he figured I’d opened my chute at 800 to 1,000 feet and hit the ground very hard—and then did a thorough job bandaging legs, head and ears, which were burned slightly, while the orderlies stood by grinning, I sure couldn't understand why.

The ensuing two hours were spent lying on the floor in an upstairs room until a dinner of potatoes and gravy was served; being rather disgusted with life, I left it untouched. Soon the room was filled with badly wounded army boys so that presently the Jerries with much gesticulating carried us all out into an old ambulance which chugged off on a short trip to a front line clearing station, which consisted merely of a group of small white washed barns. Here my stretcher was taken out by the orderlies and left lying on the ground. Being quite frightened I pretended to lie sleeping but a close onlooker might have seen one bright eye open every now and then. It was heaven to hear two American boys passing about searching for their wounded boys but thinking me a Jerry in blue uniform, they almost left me there but luckily the "Canada" badges caught their eye and into one of the barns I was carried and deposited on the straw-covered floor amongst a group of very, seriously wounded American G.I.'s (privates) from the Battle of the Bulge; it was such a treat to hear real friends once again, the lads were quite kind as I was the only airman present and thus rather a novelty.

Till three in the afternoon we lay on the floor; the lad beside me had his leg blown partly off and gangrene had set in. It was pretty grim hearing him sob like a beaten child. The only help I could give was to let him clench my hands as the pain racked his body, it was only then that the full realization of how horrible war really is came to me; lads crying in pain, the twisting of tortured bodies, the cheerful face of a lad  trying so hard to be brave, a slow tear glistering on a grubby cheek, all these things were evident and I was thankful that at least I could be of a little help as my wounds were nothing compared to these brave lads.

The first portion of my journey was being carried out by a large American Corporal to a waiting bus crowded with wounded Jerry Soldiers, of course we had to stand somehow; I felt quite sick and dizzy but one American lad gave me a drink now and again, so that three hours wandered into oblivion and the bus jerked to a halt before a large grey hospital. This place was completely filled with German infantrymen in quite bad shape so that nothing could be done for us except to be registered, put downstairs in a shower room to sleep on the floor, with a cup of  hot wine and a piece of black bread for supper. A curtain served as a blanket but with the cold and general worry, sleep was impossible so that I was  thankful when a German guard woke us at four in the morning to catch the train to the next stop.

In Germany each station has a restaurant and pub and I vividly recall watching the people drinking ale as we sat out in the cold hallway, shivering and cursing the war in general, here some civilians spat on us but on the whole they weren't too bad. After an hour’s wait a pinpoint of light gleamed in the distance and a little toylike train scampered into the station and with a squealing of brakes came to a stop. Our journey was in a boxcar, but it wasn't long until we pulled into a little village, nestling in false security amongst lofty peaks.

It was a very long hobble from the station through the village to a very quaint, aged church where we were told to wait. The interior of the church was much like our country churches. All round the gallery were lovely little rosettes hung in memory of German boys killed in the first Great War; the altar was quite high and imposing with the most beautifully-carved crucifix I have every seen—and in Germany, one sees many of them. In fact almost every cross road has an exquisitely-modelled figure of our Lord hung in an ornamented box; its one of the finest of my memories of Deutchland.

Soon a kindly old nun came in followed by a young girl carrying a pot of coffee and cups. It was very hot and black, without milk or sugar but gosh what a treat it was. Immediately on finishing the coffee a pompous-looking official of the local Volbstrum came in, in his dazzling red uniform, bedecked with swastikas he looked and acted like a big wheel so of course we little cogs had to start moving once more.

This time a very worn out open truck was the mode of travel, twelve of us were loaded into the back. It sure was cold but we didn't care very much and the scenery impressed me so much that I didn't mind the journey. The country was the mountainous portion of Germany about Koblenz, very beautiful with all the hills clad in shimmering white​ broken only by a quaint farmhouse here and there, looking somewhat like a soft white sheet patched with vari‑colored patches. One couldn't imagine that war would dare trespass into such quiet, the very air seemed to be hushed in the beauty of this land. Slowly the old Volkstrum driver pursuaded the faltering engine to keep pressing on until we started down a steep hill into the desolate ruins of Koblenz, perched on the banks of the Mainz. Never have I seen a city in such pitiful shape, one could see houses torn asunder with beds or pieces of furniture hanging out the open walls, it was a tragic sight, with no sign of business or human activity, except one b1ack‑garbed woman who swept us with an em​bittered eye.

Through the centre of the city we carried on, coming to a halt on the farther side outside a large white hospital, here the driver placed a guard over us while he walked on into the house of mercy. In the bitter cold, we sat hunched together for a good two hours only to have the driver return to tell us that we weren't to be allowed admittance here but were to continue to another hospital. Soon after winding through many narrow poverty‑stricken streets, the truck coughed and sputtered to a halt before another hospital. In a few minutes the twelve of us were bundled out and taken inside, placed on long benches in the hal1way and told just to be patient and wait. I dozed off to be awakened by a friendly nun who fed me a real nice bowl of potato soup, it was like manna from heaven, but they could give us no medical attention because of so many German wounded. (Many of the German troops in the Bulge battle were SS,  casualties on both sides were horrendous, ie. approx. 75,000 GI’s.)

The date was December 24th and all day we sat there the monotony broken in the afternoon as the sirens wailed mournfully and a heavy force of American bombers was said to be approaching. Of course, being foolish, inexperienced lads, we decided to be brave and just stay where we were, until the sound of whistling bombs made our thoughts turn to some means of shelter. I hobbled outside as there were no guards about and watched the show, just little pin points in the bright sunlight marked the passage of the Fortresses as they dropped load after load of  bombs, the vapour trails in the blue sky making fantastic patterns as fighters pressed in to attack. As my eyes took in the scene, a bomber began to lose al​titude while, six dark forms hurtled out into space to blossom forth in canopies of white. It seemed so unreal that here above me lads were fighting for their very lives while I gazed up in a detached manner marvelling at the tragic beauty of it all. 

As the raid gained in intensity, one aircraft came quite near the hospital and by gosh did I ever go when those bombs started down, into the shelter under the hospital. I hobbled somehow but felt extremely uncomfortable as hostile eyes turned my way. Thank God an American boy had given me a brown greatcoat, so that they didn't realize I was a flyer. One fifteen year old boy (I guessed) came up to me and speaking in perfect English said, "Are you a flyer and what is your nationality?" While biting my already very short nails, I mumbled "No, I am of the Wehrmacht (Army), an infantryman and a Canadian" 

Says he, “Good, you know we kill all terror flyers.” (Some flyers were in fact reported as lynched.)

By gosh, that scared me a bit and it was such a relief when the all clear went and we emerged into the light of day. Into a small waiting room they placed us to while the remainder of the day away, how envious we became to see the German nurses and men preparing for a Christmas celebration. It brought so vividly to mind many happy Christmases of the seeming far distant past. At seven‑thirty, the guard reappeared with orders for us to get to the local station for the next stage of the journey, It wasn't too far and those of us who could walk just a very little were carried by some of the other lads.

In the dark they loaded us into a boxcar where even civilians were riding. They didn't bother us at all, but as we were getting off I felt a hand groping for mine in the dark and a little, old woman furtively slipped me a piece of cake and a wizened apple. It raised my morale a hundred percent to feel that here was true humanity even amongst our enemies. This station was Limburgh and here they put us in a room crowded with German wounded and young S.S. boys. They were very hostile and I'll never forget the suspense and weariness as it was a four hour wait. Two young Germans sat in one corner and in turn they would call one of our lads over, pull a gun on him and laughingly strip him of watches. rings etc. I was able to hide mine in my shoe and thus got away okay. It  was well after midnight when finally a truck came along to haul us out to Stalag XIIA, a place I learned to hate very much.

As we entered the black barracks one could smell stinking water on the floor and by the dim light of candles, lads could be seen lying on tables, on the floor or anywhere. Many were coughing terribly and groaning pitifully begging for help, It was such a let down that two of our wounded boys broke down completely. There wasn't a single space for us so they sat us on benches at the doorway for the night, without a bit of heat and no blankets. It was terrible but by thinking of all the happy times of the past I was able to get by just fine, morning however was more than welcome. As the first ray of light seeped through one could see the barracks more clearly, It was a big room with a stone floor and plaster wall, with a window spaced every six feet. Three rows of bunks were spaced across the room with about two feet between the wooden frames on which were spread filthy straw mattresses. The American orderlies (prisoners too) tried to decorate the place for Christmas, but with no materials the effect was only to emphasize the grimness of the room.

At eight o'clock a British medical officer came along to give us an inspection, although with no bandages or medical supplies it was a hopeless task, but by his cheerful manner many of the lads felt better. I was taken and put into one of the bunks wrapped in lousy, filthy blankets and still with my old battle dress uniform, I sure did look and feel very unkempt. Being very tired, I quickly fell into a sound sleep, to be awakened at noon by a red‑headed British corporal, who presented me with a bowl of soup and also a ticket for a special Xmas ration they were getting but there wasn't enough to go around and so a raffle was made up. Being  very lucky, I won a small tin of meat paté, apparently quite a prize with food so scarce. Well that was Xmas day, soup and paté, but I reckoned it was great just being alive and able to come back to my waiting little Bett, Mom and Dad and wee Donald Duck (my young brother).

For the first two weeks here there were no lights at all because of Allied bombing of nearby Limburgh but one sight will never be forgotten. On Xmas night they announced that the French padre would be around to receive the Catholic lads. Around seven o'clock he came in and by the light of a few candles held a service. To see wounded, unshaven, dirty men kneeling so humbly in the flickering darkness about the priest as he prayed in French was a great privilege, all of us felt that here was true faith, swept of all its artificial every day ties, one's head lowered in prayer unconsciously as the very air seemed wrought with reverence, thus another Xmas tip‑toed away leaving pleasant memories and the hopes of better times to come.

My stay here was one of unchanging ritual, lying in bed all day with all my clothes on as it was bitter cold with not the slightest bit of heat, the Jerries didn't have any coal. Each day the doctor talked to each lad cheering him up and promising more medicine soon. It’s funny how much a few, encouraging words can do. On the night of Dec. 27‑28. many of us expected that the end had come as the orderly came rushing in about six-thirty, just after evening soup, shouting "My god, an aircraft has dropped some red target indicators just in the next compound," Of course knowing what that meant, I was quaking  lying there in bed and in a couple of minutes we could hear the roar of planes and the whine of falling bombs, when close like that, the whole ground seems to be sucked up.

Enough to say that in all eleven bombs fell in the camp hitting one barracks and killing 67 prisoners, a real tragedy and it was very nearly 68 as I very nearly had heart failure. It was said that the Germans did little to rescue the occupants of the hut that was hit so very very close to us. They put up lights to take pictures for propoganda—the plane or planes were said to be mosquitoes who had cut their engines at the end in order to glide in.

Our rations were an eighth of a loaf of black, sour bread (some of which I hoarded under my pillow), a cup of German coffee and two bowls of soup per day, incidentally the soup was pretty hopeless, especially one kind we called "grass soup." In fact no one could eat it at all. Washing facilities were two taps of cold water but only a few lads had any soap, I got absolutely filthy here and with the lice and dirt, contracted scabies, a rather unpleasant skin disease. The medical orderly was very kind and managed to find a few books for us and so I read a great deal, feeding the mind was a pretty good substitute for feeding the body and for a few days I didn't feel too hungry. The books were The Robe by Lloyd C. Douglas, The Rolling Years, Get Thee Behind Me, and Arundel, all interesting novels.

Each day more chaps came in, many of them in a pitiful sight after walking over a hundred and forty miles from the battle front, some without shoes as civilians had taken them. One boy even offered me his watch for my ration of bread. Of course I couldn't take it and didn't care about the bread, it was more fun seeing the pleasure he got out of it. One lad in particular was truly pitiful, a fighter pilot who was a mass of burns from head to foot, even his face was in awful shape. The poor lad used to be hysterical all night long, it was heart rendering to hear him call for his wife and mother while the doctor did all in his power to quiet and ease him a little. By means of a straw he was fed but one night his crying ceased and next morning as I went into the washroom, a blanket covered form on the floor spoke eloquently of his fate. Every day several died. Their bodies were placed across the washroom water trough each day. Many wonderful lads passed on here and in their passing wrote indelibly in my heart a deep hatred for war. 

In the evenings one lad from way down in Tennessee sang a few songs and presently everyone joined in. That was a big treat and helped everyone a great deal. You know in a motley group of lads like that, there are many fine voices and I loved to lay back listening to them while slipping down memory lane of happier carefree days.

At the end of two weeks, the Jerries seemed to realize that I was an officer and one clear, frosty morning I was taken just across the road to the officers' quarters, no better than the previous ones but here I met a  lad who was in the bunk beside me, Lieutenant Shiner from Detroit. Here the rations were the same except that each week we got a special treat of a small bar of chocolate and five cigarettes. They certainly helped a lot and were useful to trade for bread with some of the lads. Being an airman, I didn't move out so quickly as these were all American army officers taken in Runstedt's drive through Malmedy and were awaiting transport to their permanent stalag. When there three or four days, the Jerries took 83 out one morning to start on their long journey, we learned later that they just arrived at the local railway station and were put in box cars when four Lightning's came over bombing and strafing; the guards locked these boys in and then took shelter. It must have teen terrible. Four lads were killed and seven wounded. These were taken out and returned to the camp after the raid while the remainder were left in the boxcar freezing and with no food whatsoever for 36 hours and next day marched back to camp. I've never seen a more discouraged lot of men, as you see, the barracks I was in, was half hospital and half regular barracks.

To pass the time I'd lay gazing out the window which looked out by the great kitchens, here many Russians were splitting wood or shovelling snow with  no gloves hats or coats on, they seemed to be treated very rough so that our life didn't seem too bad.

On January 26th the "Hauptmann" came in and told the doctor in charge of the hospital section that I was well enough to travel and was to be taken to Frankfurt for interrogation. With eight other air force boys, I was taken to the railway station just after dinner. It was a lovely sunlit day and a treat to be outside once again; two of the lads helped me and we marched in three's with a guard on either side. Once on the train a Jerry officer came along and made a terrific fuss about the guards putting us in the civilian cars as many people had to stand. It rather scared us to see him so angry but the guards didn't move us and he moved away. The run to Frankfurt was quite short but here a long wait ensued as the camp was twelve kilometres away north of the city. The guards took us over to a bus stop for a ride to a different railway station but as soon as we got on the car the civilians kicked us and made us get off. The only thing left was to stand miserable and cold for three and a half hours on an open railway platform, with my small Oxfords. It was a fast take-off and I, for some reason, forgot my flying boots.  It was bitter cold, as December 1944 / January 1945 was one of the worst winters in several years. I thought my feet were frozen as they wouldn't  let us even move around. The train ride was rather short to the next little village where an open truck awaited us and deposited us inside Dulag Luft, the Air Force interrogation centre.

Here, once again the Jerries didn't seem very pleased to see us and although it was very late they made us stand in the deep snow for a very long time as they took each lad in separately, unfortunately I was near the end as we naturally let the most poorly dressed lads and badly wounded in first. After taking all but four of us in, an officer came out and asked if any of the same crew wished to come in together thus saving some time. Of course, it was just a ruse to try and find out whether we were of the same crew and so all of us shook our heads in the negative. Eventually my turn came and what a relief to get out of the cold and into a comparatively warm room where after a few questions I was ordered to strip completely while all my clothes were thoroughly searched and everything removed. The next stop was down a great, long corridor lined on either side with small, individual cells on the front of which was a numbered card. At ein and fumfzeig (51) the Guard stopped, unlocked the massive door, ordered me to take my shoes off and leave them in the hallway and then very kindly ushered me inside, the beginning of a longer stay than I anticipated. My feeling was one of despair and despondency, but then one, can't keep happy that way, so I busied myself groping about in the dark to find a little cot with planks on it and a small blanket, with so little else to do it seemed best to get a little sleep, the, Jerries certainly didn't worry much over the minor comforts of life.

On leaden footsteps a ray of light peeked in through the barred glazed window and by the dim light I could see the little room, about six foot wide, twelve foot long and quite a high ceiling in the centre of which was a small light bulb. As my eyes became accustomed to the meagre light, I could see many messages and scratchings on the pasteboard walls, which were obviously made by previous "kriegies," anxiously I counted many of the marks to see how long most of the lads stayed here and fourteen seemed the maximum number. Beside the cot was a small stool on which perched all my belongings, a dull, red cup; while at the head of the cot was a small, electric heater turned on very low for three hours each day, so it was well‑nigh useless. At eight o'clock the key slowly turned in the massive lock and shoutings of “coffee, coffee” ran down the corridor, so I grabbed the little, tin cup and dashed to the door, hungry as usual. We were not permitted to go outside the room but stood inside as the food detail (2 armed guards with the food detail) came along from room to room, the ration being a cup of terrible, Jerry ersatz coffee and two thin slices of black bread spread thinly with jam, being so hungry it tasted like ambrosia.

Immediately the door was locked again and there was nothing to do but munch away on the bread and ponder my fate, while pictures of home and loved ones hung tantalizingly in the background, After what seemed hours, the soon to be familiar cry of “Postern B, ein and fremfzeig,” sounded outside my stateroom and with the opening of the door a quite, pleasant, young German officer entered; at once I came to attention, it being merely a courtesy, but he put me at ease and as part of his training, tried to be very friendly and of assistance while after asking my name, rank and number he proceeded to talk of how worried my family would be and promised to have them notified of my safety at once, if I'd cooperate by telling him our type of aircraft, squadron number etc. Of course I refused politely to discuss anything with him and in a few minutes he departed not quite so cheerful and friendly.

At twelve‑thirty the door again swung open as a soup bucket came by and a bowl of soup was set inside the door in an old tobacco tin. Boy did it ever taste good, and when the guard came back for the bowl I asked him for more but received a negative reply. Just as darkness settled in to kindly blot out the rather unpleasant surroundings, the lock grated and a gruff voice said, "come" and so off I went, very scared to an adjoining building. Here I was ushered into a big office and told to sit down before a luxurious oak desk, behind which sat a Jerry Luftwaffe Hauptmann, very dapper in his nicely pressed uniform, resplendent with the Iron Cross, while I'm afraid my appearance presented quite a marked contrast, as we had no facilities whatsoever for washing, shaving etc. Interrogation began on a friendly basis. He said he was a graduate of the MIT in the United States. I refused to answer anything but ‑name, rank and number which I repeated parrott‑like to each of his questions, whereupon he began to shout and rave in German, like his Fuehrer, then came over to kick my legs shouting in English now that I was definitely a saboteur and must be dealt with by the Gestapo unless I gave him the desired information. However all he did was summon the guard who escorted me to the now familiar room 51 for a night's lodging and supper of a cup of tea and two thin slices of bread and butter.

Well, each day was the same monotony of lying on the wooden cot counting the nails in the ceiling or sitting up making odds and ends out of the straw in the sack mattress. Each morning I scratched a mark on the wall to keep count of the days and as the tenth mark was reached, I was taken again about seven‑thirty in the evening to a different officer, who was the kindly, benevolent type, trying to get information by flattery and cajolery; his questions were much the same, especially concerning radar equipment. 

Once again,  I refused to talk to him at all and so was ushered back to my private sanctuum. Being more accustomed by now to the solitary confinement, my spirits rose a little, especially when the lad in the adjoining room began to whisper to me through the thin walls. Many a time the guards in the corridor warned us to shut up but we managed a few words each day, soon becoming fast friends. I learned that friendship thrives in such fertile soil as mutual trouble and worry. This lad was an English Flight Lieutenant Snuffy Smith, who had been there fourteen days then and who despaired of moving soon, so I tried to cheer him up a little with what news of the battle fronts I had.

On the sixteenth day I was interrogated once more, only this time was told what crew I was in, complete with  all the names, plus our squadron number and some other information. I found out later that he got his information from our wireless operator who was one of three survivors. He wanted me to confirm our flight engineer Fred Devitts name "Devitt or Dewitt," but I told him that I knew nothing of any of those names. This seemed to make him more hostile as he immediately threatened to keep me in solitary confinement indefinitely and then going to what he termed as a “very unpleasant camp” unless I proved to him that I was really a navigator and an officer in the R. C. A.F. as I claimed to be. (As a P.F.F. navigator, I had access to up to date special equipment.) He said if I did not prove I knew how to operate them I would be designated a sabateur and shot. 

Having made my mind up to tell him nothing I once again sat silent and then after asking for a wash and shave and receiving no reply, was ushered back into my cell again. As the guard came to my room, he put a white card on the door and from then on the guards seemed a lot rougher and stricter, but even though I asked a number of them what it meant, they just shook their heads and said it was bad. One said it was KAPUT and crossed his throat. During the next ten days only one piece of bread and one tin of ersatz coffee weregiven per day and full solitary.

One morning a guard came in at five o'clock with a basin of water and lo and behold I was allowed my first wash and shave in seventeen days. I almost climbed in the little bowl. I found a small crust of bread in a shower stall he took me to. From then on, I was questioned four more times and was becoming quite weak and despondent, as twenty nine days of lying  (in full solitary and very reduced rations) is a bit tiresome and I must admit that at the last interrogation I told him what conversion unit I had trained at. Then he showed me a complete book on our squadron and invited me to inspect it, but  I refused, reasoning that he could tell easily by the expression on my face whether it was familiar or not, thereby confirming all his information.

As I got up to leave he made me very happy by saying " Flying Officer Biggs, your sojourn here is over and you will leave tomorrow for a transient camp, thence to a regular offlag, the best of luck to you. The 29 days exceeded by 15 all former room occupants who had marked the walls as well. Of course this was only one cell in a large building and I’m sure many prisoners had longer and tougher stays.

Thus ended my stay at Dulag Luft, one of torment as well as humor; in dealing with the former I remember particularly one night the R.A.F. bombing of the nearby railway station when one or two four thousand pound bombs landed within the camp; to my mind nothing is more frightening than to be locked in during a bombing,  I even crawled under my bed shivering in fright. It’s amazing the foolish things one does in times of danger. The hut lifted up with the shock. One night a guard came in, pulled me up by the throat, banging my head on the wall while screaming “terror flyer” and then abruptly dropped me and left. The humorous side was my R.A.F.  friend (Snuffy Smith a fighter pilot) next door. Each evening the guard would come in for our shoes. I suppose it was to prevent us sawing the window bars and escaping; well old Stebb would say in very loud English, "You miserable German rat, can't you get me a piece of bread, even an old crust from the kitchen floor?" Of course the, guard couldn't understand a word. I used to lay on the bed and chuckle over that. It seemed so very funny. One memory also is of an American lad across the aisle who, in all seriousness, asked the guard if they were taking his shoes in order to shine them for him. Stebb and I sure had a laugh over that as we were sort of old timers there. On my last evening at the country club, as I called it, one of the more friendly old guards came in and hurriedly handed me a crust of bread and a small piece of cheese. I was thankful  and lay in the darkness munching away, quite happy with so many wonderful visions of my dearest Bett and Quality Hill, my home, in Wingham. That evening I was also given a shower and in the shower room found another small crust. It’s hard to imagine now, but it was like finding gold. I felt so starved and didn't hesitate about picking it off the floor.

It was wonderful to leave, as although I received no harsh physical treatment, the mental strain is rather severe. The German idea of interrogation being to suggest unpleasant deeds and letting  imagination do the rest. It’s funny how one's imagination gets out of hand. I used to visualize firing squads, concent​ration camps and many other such things. Nightmares were  regular as it seemed well nigh impossible to sleep with the cold and worry. January 30th found me lined up outside the club with forty‑nine other American and RAF fliers. In a dripping rain, the long trek began. Being very weak, it seemed like a days work, here at the platform an hour and a half wait followed in bitter cold and rain, until presently the old engine wearily puffed in with its humble entourage of passenger cars. To our amazement the guards put us in a civilian passenger car which was heated and quite comfortable, with only one change we arrived at our destination Wetteslan in three hours; here in single file we were marched seemingly for hours through the murky darkness until the most welcome outline of the prison camp came into sight like a giant shadow in the pitch dark. As the sentries sharp challenge rang out we halted, then advanced through the barbed wire, once again, this time at least with friends . That night we stood up freezing in a bare room, trying to keep a bit warm until morning when they promised us hot coffee and some blankets.

As light heralded the coming day, a German officer entered and from then on things happened quickly. We were searched, finger printed, photographed, and then issued shoes, socks and clean underwear by the Red Cross. We were now registered POWs and not likely to be shot out of hand. It was wonderful. The next item was a real hot shower, breakfast of coffee, and bread and potatoes and an issue of four American blankets and assigment to barracks. This camp was really wonderful, perched at the crest of a green clad hill overlooking a perfect, peaceful valley, pocked with darker shades of green, while far up the further slopes could be seen picturesque little farm houses nestled cozily in fir trees, resplendent in spring dress. As the weather was perfect I spent my time walking about the compound, drinking in all this beauty, so happy to be alive, and marvelling that God's craftsmanship should mold so much loveliness and beauty in this one small valley of the Fatherland.

Unfortunately, this was a transient camp, and I was moved on the afternoon of the second day to the prison at Nurnberg, in the northern sector of Bavaria, a trip requiring five to six days on the train, and one to be dreaded because of constant bombings and strafings by our fighter aircraft.

Approximately four hundred of us were lined up and marched off to a very large administrative building on the other side of the camp, where a thorough search of each lad was carried out, as a German “feltwabel" (sergeant) read a copy of the Geneva convention, warning us that anyone attempting to escape would be shot at once, the guards having orders to get us to the prison camp, dead or alive, and they certainly didn't care which it was. An hour later, off down the road the long column pressed on, through a bomb‑torn town to the railway yard and waiting box cars. The Jerries ordered us to sprinkle the floor with sawdust, and eighteen of us were put in one half of the box car, which was wired off, a small stove and five German guards occupying the other half.  Generally, POWs were carried in box cars very close to engines which fighters attacked first. 

I was in with a group of R.A.F. boys, including two Canadians and an Aussie. The first action was to try and get a little room for each lad to stretch out, but it was well‑nigh impossible, and some of us had to sit up at nights. Anxiously we sat waiting to move off, as Jerry railway yards are very deadly places to be in for long, with so many of our planes always about, but early in the evening a little steam engine took us by the hand and down the tracks to Nuremburg. Each man's ration for the trip was half a Red Cross box, plus an eighth of a loaf of bread per day, so that we ate quite well, and the time went fairly fast. The complete trip took us through Frankfurt, Wurtzburg, and the last station Firth, just 12 miles from our destination. At Frankfurt they stopped us for an hour and a half in the central station, while civilians spat and cursed as our guards let ten of us at a time out on the platform for a little exercise. There was a short air alarm, but nothing came down close. Boy! my nerves sure were jumpy though. Just as Father Time boomed five o'clock, the train began to move, all the guards keeping the box car door open, as fighters had been reported. It is terrible to sit praying to God that none will attack this train, and every time an aircraft even came near the lads hugged the floor in fright, as our car was just behind the engine. 

Fortunately, we weren't attacked, and rolled into Wurtzburg, only to be told that the three stations at Nuremburg had been wiped out by American bombing and so we would stay in Wurtzburg until they could be repaired. Our train was left in the marshalling yard and every lad kept thinking how helpless we were if the bombers or fighters came over. I'm afraid that night was sleepless, as the siren went three times with no bombs being dropped, followed by  a nerve‑wracking day of lying in the car waiting for something to happen, and it did. I had just tried to eat a portion of tuna when a terrific burst of ack‑ack fire broke the silence, two of our lads rushed to the door, trying to get out, but the guard shoved them back. Hugging the floor, one could bear the awful tearing sound of aircraft strafing coming much closer, accompanied by the angry bustle of ack‑ack, but once again God was holding our hands, as they apparently ran out of ammunition and left before reaching our tracks. Never in all Kriegieland were my nerves so near breaking. I kept biting my lips to keep from screaming, and I saw many a lip quiver as death seemed so very close. Even the guards were a bit frightened, and I must say that they were much braver than many of our lads, my respect was very deep for them, as not one made the slightest move to get out and under cover, although many lads have told me about guards taking cover in the ditches and locking the box car door. Eventually during the night the clatter of an engine being connected made everyone happy, and soon we were rolling once more, past many small stations to arrive at seven in the morning at Firth station, just outside Nuremburg.

All of us were  lined up five abreast, the wounded in front to set the pace, with the airforce officers next and then American privates. It was necessary to carry two of the more severely wounded lads on our shoulders, so that progress was quite slow. The guards had fixed bayonets, and it seemed quite a serious business as the twelve‑mile march through the city began. The senior Allied officer gave us strict warning to look neither right nor left, up or down, but to keep a straight face, straight ahead, even though civilians should start anything.

The city was the most complete shambles I've ever seen. Even as we went through the main square, giant piles of rubble littered the bomb‑cratered streets, while not one of us saw a single unshattered building. One couldn't imagine such total destructions, and my mind kept thinking how beastly and low man had sunk to permit such a sight. Torn bits of streetcars filled the streets, while every street was filled with bomb‑craters and lined with skeleton buildings. The people seemed to move about in a sort of stupor and were completely lacking in spirit. We passed many long queues of women waiting for their ration of bread, many came near us to spit and kick the lads on the outside, while the guards looked blandly on. Once we stopped at a pile of rubble to pick out an old board in order to make a stretcher for a tall Aussie, who was almost fainting from pain, but the guards pressed us on, but not before an old boy in a bright green hat walked up to the American major in charge of us, and slapped him hard on both cheeks and spit on his face while making a great speech about allied terror fliers. Quickly a crowd began to gather and boy, did we ever move on in a hurry. When leaving the city square, the sirens began to wail, and we expected another big American raid, but no planes came over as we increased the pace to get out of the city as soon as possible. One‑thirty found us just outside the extremely impressive gates of Hitler's sports plaza, where the first rallies of the Nazi party were held back in '33. A giant granite swastika stands over the great cement column on either side of the giant archway. It was very interesting to see. The stalag is about six miles from the town, along one of Adolf's finest autobahns, a very wide highway laid in intricate fashion with small cobble stones, truly a wonderful piece of workmanship.

After another complete search, the column was divided up and marched into different sections of the camp, my part being sent into compound B,  consisting of five wooden huts with a large open space on each end, where our evening strolls took place. I used to look for prune stones on the ground to suck and eat, as well as any bones, which I broke for the marrow. 

The camp was completely unorganized on our arrival, as it had just been cleared of Russian prisoners, so that conditions were rather grim. After assigning us to barracks, each lad was given a portion of a blanket and told that we would sleep on the floor until things were improved. God knows when that was to be!

For 48 hours we received no rations whatsoever, and had given up hope of getting any decent treatment, but conditions became better as they brought wooden bunks in with slats as mattresses and straw sacks for pillows. The rations were an eighth of a loaf of bread, a cup of coffee in the morning and a cup of soup at noon and also in the evening, enough to keep alive on, but I became very weak and stayed in bed most of the time.

Because of the cold my sinus became quite painful, the doctor being unable to help, as all the aspirin, the only medicine available, had to be kept for more serious cases. Time went by however, and gradually the days became warmer as March came and went; April bringing fine, warm days, in which we lay out in the sun all day, getting a wonderful tan.

From an entry of my diary of March 16th, I will copy, as on this day I got the first bit of paper on which to write. "This is the first day of this day‑by‑day epistle as there just hasn't been a scrap of paper about before, but I hope to keep our letter going, and only hope that you'll enjoy it a little. It has been a glorious warm day, with the arrival of the first Red Cross boxes, the issue being half a box per man per week, with the promise of more to come. Our morale has risen considerably. I keep thinking of you, darling, pray​ing that you and Mom and Dad will get word quickly that I'm safe and sound. Since lights will be out soon I must say good‑night for now.”

I kept a day‑by‑day diary but unfortunately lost it on the march, except for two sheets, so that this story mightn't be in strict order of events. Each evening at seven o'clock an American Lieutenant Hind had a small hand organ taken outside by the air raid shelter, and here, as the sun said its last farewells, the lads would gather for a short service of prayer and sing‑song. It's in times like this one feels so in need of someone to trust in, and I loved to see many lads, whom I'm quite sure never went to church before, come slipping shyly up and rather furtively join in the singing. The back​ground of the setting sun was lovely, and one didn't feel quite so badly afterwards. I used to go for long walks before bedtime, with my chum Smudge Smith, talking of home and loved ones helped us both. Then often in the evenings the lads would arrange concerts, or just group sing‑songs; lads from different parts of the world gave very interesting lectures on South Africa, Greece, China and even Canada, and from them we all learned a great deal. An American captain began a course in German, which many of us attended. I learned to speak the language fairly well, but my main subjects were food and drink.

A British G/C who had been badly burned organized all of us together to point up and cheer everytime allied aircraft came over. The guards were very tense and angry when this happened. At roll call each morning he was in front of us as senior officer and always forced the camp commandant to salute first as he as G/C outranked the German commandant. He often arranged for a mix up in our lines to constantly upset the count each morning. He said we were still soldiers and must never forget that and were duty bound to cause as much trouble as possible.

I'm sure the highlight of the stay at Nuremburg from March lst to April 4th was meeting our wireless operator Jerry. I presumed that he was killed, so imagine our mutual amazement as I saw him in the next compound during morning roll‑call. It was wonderful and we talked through the wire most of that day. Jerry came over once in a while by crawling under the wire.

We laugh now over the time I offered him a cup of coffee, saying "I'm very sorry, but there's no milk or sugar for it." He sure was disgusted.

Our days were spent strolling about, scrubbing dirty clothing, writing, or just lying about taking life easy. Many lads made frying pans, knives, and many cooking utensils from any old tins lying about, as we ate everything from old tins or bottles, as the Jerries had no plates, cups or saucers. I could go on indefinitely about our stay here, but there seems little point to it, as our sojourn there wasn't very long. On April 1st the German captain came along with the news that Allied armies were closing in and we must be prepared to move at once to a camp 140 kilometres away in the direction of Munich. 

The senior Allied officer ordered each man to prepare four days' iron ration at once; it consisted of cocoa, sugar, prunes, chocolate, oatmeal, in fact just about all our final British Red Cross parcel, we looked like a lot of housewives as each lad mixed his batch. We sure will make good husbands. 

Rumors spread like wildfire on April 3rd, as to when and where our movement would be. Many  planned escapes, while others bowed their heads in prayer, everyone in his own mind wondering what the fates were stewing in their magic pots. On April 4th conjectures were quite rampant until orders came to be all packed and ready to move at nine in the morning; a great flurry of excitement ensued as we tried our kits on for comfort, little snacks were prepared and water bottles filled.

I had sewn the bottom of my underwear tops and tied the arms in the form of a sling, with the neck as the opening and into the aperture went two Red Cross boxes, one of them almost new, and the other with pieces of bread, open tins and odds and ends for immediate use; around these went two blankets, a pair of socks and an old washcloth; travelling in the Fatherland was quite inexpensive. After waiting till almost noon, our column was lined up to begin a great adventure, one not soon to be forgotten, with its tears and smiles, laughter and heartaches. Even now it seems like a fading dream sinking into the limbo of the past. Just before leaving the hated gates of Stalag VII A, many of the lads were able to get into the Serbian compound to barter greatcoats, sweaters and socks for items of food. It seemed half the Serbian army was in the next compound to our right. The Serbs were quite shrewd bargainers, as they’d impassively sit smoking their long ornamental pipes muttering “drei packets cigarettes for prunes” and so on; cigarettes were quite valuable and 30 would usually procure a box of prunes, 60 a bar of chocolate and so on, depending on how much Jewish blood flowed in a lads veins. Our marching order was in groups of twelve, F/L Smudge Smith being my group leader, a real Englishman, with the usual handle-bar, unmistakeable even from behind, the jolly twinkle in the somewhat protruding blue eyes, and the “you cawn’t miss it old boy” accent. We all came to like him very much, even as we threw barbed comments about his native tongue.

As we passed through the gate, we could see either side of the road lined with ferocious-looking police dogs, held at bay by the Luftwaffe guards. These were let loose in the emptied compound to flush out and kill any prisoner trying to hide to escape.

That, more than anything, started my inner man whispering. “maybe it’s best to stay with the group,” as I had a plan for escape. With light hearts and a heavy pack, the column pressed on, four abreast, out through the camp and onto the highroads of Hitler land. Through the small railway centre of Feuch, our group wended its weary way, here the first excitement occurred, as three Thunderbolts hurlted out of a cloud-flecked sky, to dive bomb and strafe the town. I must have looked like a jet-propelled airman as I dove for the neighboring ditch. A fellow prisoner pulled me down from behind  and as I fled into a ditch  the guard opened fire. 

We heard two lads were killed and several wounded in this, the first of our troubles. We later worked out a deal to tramp POW on the snow whenever allied planes came over.

Soon the famous words “press on” were put into action, and in succession we passed through Ochenbruck and Pffenfulle, quaint little villages lying in a sea of lush fields and stately forests, until in blackness, our leaden feet turned into a byway, up a steepening grade to a collection of wooden buildings, one of them a church, our haven for the night. Smudge and I managed here to meet a German fraulein, and, with a small piece of soap, trade for black bread, while a foreign worker attracted to the scene, gave me a sandwich of bread and meat. That seemed hard to believe. I spent that first long night sitting up in the church, as they jammed us into pews, aisles and every six-inch space, so that very few could sleep properly. Perhaps my mind was in such a turmoil that sleep couldn’t find a place to weave its spell, at any rate, as always, morning came to find most of the lads in the churchyard busily building fires for the morning brew of tea. I often said “I’ll never laugh at my Mom’s Ladies’ Aid Meeting again, as they sip their precious cup of tea,” as we kreigies were forever brewing some potent mixture which, with a little imagination, could be called tea.

On completing breakfast of bread and tea, the cry of "Raus, Raus" rang in our ears as we were lined up, counted and started on the second marching period, with beautiful rolling hills housing us in on either side. The load seemed very heavy, but it being so lovely a day and all the lads so happy to be out of doors, we pressed on, marching 50 minutes and resting 10, with the object of having twenty more kilometres behind us each day. The stop for dinner was just fifteen minutes, so that Smudge and I didn't brew up; I'm sure it must have broken his heart to miss his spot of tea, but then Kriegieland had its disappointments too. 

At two o'clock, the column was halted in a large field on the outskirts of a pretty, medium‑sized town, nestling between gently sloping hills. The stop here was two hours duration, as rumor had it that each lad was to get a ration or bread and soup in the town. Of course, in a few minutes puffs of smoke testified that kriegies were in full swing building fires and preparing dinner. A few curious German children approached, and with a lot of gesticulating and muttering, I managed to procure a few potatoes for a precious portion of chocolate. This made Smudge quite happy, and we immediately boiled two each. Boy, were they good! 

At four o'clock, as we were lining up on the road, a detachment of a British Guards regiment marched by, in perfect step, in battle‑stained clothes, heads held high in their proud knowledge of sterling service. We all felt a surge of pride to be of common cause with such wonderful lads, and formed up with quicker step and lightened hearts. The town was Neumarkt, lined with its residents who eyed us curiously as though we were from another world. None of us cared very much, as we marched on, halting in a small park to await the soup and bread ration. It was here that Smudge's bartering side predominated, as he sallied forth armed with chocolate, soap and thread, to return with a piece of brown bread and an unbelievable sight ‑ three, beautiful lily‑white eggs, which we boiled at once to be sure they wouldn't be broken in our travels. By eight o'clock each lad had his eighth of a loaf, plus a small portion of soup, and we formed up once more to continue the march by night in a clinging, cold rain. 

From nine‑thirty until three in the morning the tired column plodded on, the silence broken only by shuffling feet, bitter curses and voices raised in a half‑hearted melody until most of the lads said "To Hell with the Jerry rats" and disbanded into a nice big grove of firs at the edge of a small town. The hauptmann in charge realized we were a bit dangerous, and so camp was made for the remainder of the night, with orders to move at ten next morning. Smudge and I made some form of bed between two immense fir trees and managed to keep warm with branches from the tree, greatcoats and blankets. Sleeping under a canopy of boughs was a real treat, and I lay awake thinking of similar starlit skies and evening camps as a boy in the Boy Scouts. How far away it seemed! A little nymph of daylight plucked at our heavy‑laden eyes about six in the morning, and in turn sleepy, tousled heads popped forth to survey a wet, soggy bush with a cheerful fire blazing here and there. Quickly Smudge tore some dry pieces of wood from an old log as I hiked off to see what could be moved conveniently from any neighboring houses. You see, a prisoner's character is very low, and we'd "acquire" (that sounds a little better than steal) anything not tied down. Many of the guards were Volkstrum- ie. like our home guard – all somewhat elderly and not nearly as tough as regular troops and they also seemed to sense their war was lost. It was time to give us some leeway and gain some good will.   The guards were quite lax, and as their backs were turned, I gathered lots of dry wood from a sawmill, stole some potatoes, and in a half hour was back with Smudge, happy as a lark, roasting the kartaffels, as we liked a little variety in our cooking. 

By hiding under a brush‑pile, three of us were able to remain in the bush after the remainder of the group were marched on; presently, however, it was decided to continue, feeling somewhat rested. The beautiful green‑clad hills of Bavaria passed quickly by, until in front we spied the column plodding on. Amazing though it seems, we passed through small villages in broad daylight without guards, yet not a single person bothered us, in fact it began to seem more like a peace‑time hiking tour. After the first two days, the whole organization became broken up, as lads plodded on in their own time, stopping wherever it was convenient. It was in reality a "kriegie" invasion of Bavaria. Approximately one o'clock found us with the column in the ancient town of Birchin, where the first Red Cross trucks met us to issue a British parcel between two lads. Boy, what a treat it was, and it gave us a chance to practice our culinary arts once more. Smudge and I stopped at the edge of the town for dinner, having a  lunch of tea with powdered milk, bread and a half tin of salmon each while as he cleaned up I wandered off to trade one cigarette for a piece of white cheese, which we packed away for future use. As the Rain and Thunder God summoned all their minions, we passed through little huddles of buildings soon to be drenched in rain, until late in the day our footsteps led into an abandoned old shed to escape the torrential rain. As darkness came on, we hit the road once more, to enter Belingries, quite a large town, here to join the remainder of the column. It was quite difficult to find a place to stay, so on to the farther edge of the town and an old farm house, rooted on the banks of a gently flowing river.

This was our home for that night, and all next day, as we, with other kriegies, climbed up the ladder, into the loft of the barn to sleep on the sweet-smelling hay. Smudge even beat Mother Nature to the draw next morning, as he arose before dawn to do a little scouting around the yard, returning with a triumphant grin, plus some potatoes and milk. What luxury we lived in.

It wasn't too hard to persuade the guards we needed a rest, as they too, were very tired, and by the stream we built a fire to cook our meals and lie about all day in the sun. It was really wonderful and made all the lads feel once again that after all, life isn't so bad. While on an "acquiring" prowl in the loft I came across the chicken pen, immediately conjuring up in my mind's eye a luscious fowl broiling over our roaring fire. 

Action soon followed, as Smudge was summoned to stand guard at the stairs. I stealthily removed the window, and with a fluttering heart tiptoed into a cacophony of screeching fowl and beating wings. The chickens were much too elusive, but six white eggs nestled, as though awaiting a hungry "Englander" in the nests, and greedily I stuffed them in my battle dress and slipped out again. Well, the lads still laugh at me and I may as well tell you why ‑ three of the eggs were china. Even I had to laugh with the boys, even in Kriegieland one has lessons to learn. After that I always made sure the eggs were genuine.

Another night was spend here at Belingries, this time in an old shed on the ground, but at six‑thirty in the morning the guards seemed quite keen on moving farther through their land. Being mere prisoners, their wish was our command, and as morning took the stage, a long line of dirty men could be seen plodding up and down the steep inclines of northern Bavaria. The country is truly awe‑inspiring, on the left may be towering hills in a summer coat of many tints,  between them in cuplike hands small green fields and tidy farms, all so peaceful, while on the right may be immense stretches of towering forests. This proved to be a very hard day, as we chugged along in intense heat in order to cover 28 kilometres. Even the guards were worn out, but the German hauptmann in charge was quite  keen  and on we pressed, finally turning off the main road on to a tortuous, winding alley three miles distant to a collection of barns. Here Smudge and I found a fairly good loft, but were too tired to bother with any supper, so, stretching out full length on the musty straw, fell fast asleep, very thankful to be able to forget about the terrible war. 

Next morning our destination was to be Neustadt, 18 kilometres distant, over very rough, hilly, back roads. The lads were very stiff and sore, but with a cheerful smile and a frowning heart we carried on somehow. One German guard who had his wife and son with him, offered Smudge and I, plus two other lads, his hand cart to put our bags on if we'd pull it for him. Well, we agreed, and took turns acting as horse, while the remaining lads pushed, quite tiresome but a little better. When half way to Neustadt, poor old Smudge took violently sick, so of course the four of us stopped the old cart to carry him, but he persuaded me and one other lad to press on and he'd get a ride into the town on a Red Cross vehicle. It being a sound plan, I agreed. 

The afternoon was in its old age as we finally caught up with the column, halted before a tremendous bridge spanning the Danube, with our destination on the opposite side. As we halted to form up before crossing the river, a quite big wheel drove up, none other than an S.S. colonel, who became quite haughty, firing six shots in our direction until we had moved back half a mile. Then strict orders were read out that S.S. men were guarding this edifice with orders to shoot any person not in three's while crossing. At length the crossing was made, as German SS troops on either side of the river were digging gun emplacements, and mining the bridge. 

It certainly looked as though they were very determined, and one had the feeling that iron, prison gates were swinging relentlessly shut as we stepped foot on the opposite bank of the mighty Danube. The town thronged with S.S. troops, making it rather risky to stop, thus on the column moved as overhead squadron after squadron of American heavies passed. It was a huge relief to get out of the town. At the straggling village of Sweinhausen a stop was made for the night, all next day and half the next, as we bathed in a nearby stream and lay in the sun relaxing, hearing the persistent drone of bombers pounding the Reich into oblivion, while sowing hatred into the hearts of the young village children. 

I could see it so plainly as they sat beside us on the hillside, pointing at the dreaded, inhuman killing machine and cringing automatically. How can it be that young minds and hearts have to be poisoned so insidiously while all around us were green fields, laughing streams and singing birds, even as the bombers dropped pathfinding smoke bombs, followed by a terrible crashing of high explosives, ripping human bodies to bits. Could one blame these children? 

In this town we managed to get a little jam and flour. Smudge being more domesticated than 1, made a small cake, which a farmer’s wife baked for us. Of course it was just flour and water, but with some imagination brought home a little closer. At noon our march proceeded to the hamlet of Untermunchen for a very short halt in a tremendous barn, while roll call was held, as apparently the Jerries noticed how magically the column was dwindling. 

Our next full halt was at a small collection of barns, where we met many Yugoslav foreign workers, who gave us a few beets, carrots and even the odd egg. Of course Smudge's moustache began to curl at the sight of fresh vegetables, and soon after building a brick fireplace and acquiring some wood, a spoon could be seen dipping inquisitively into a boiling pot hung over the fire. You guessed it, we had a real vegetable stew, thickened with some bran found in the barn. 

A particularly crowded siesta was spent here, as the barns were quite small, but after getting stepped on a few times, sleep seemed the only way out, until probing fingers of light knocked at my weary eyelids to announce another warm, sunny day. Nine o'clock ticked by as we columned up once more on the last couple of sessions of the trip to Moosberg, our home‑to‑be. Arriving at Gamelsdorf, the Red Cross truck issued one French parcel out between nine men. My! what a job dividing it up, each lad so anxious to get his full share of the honey, biscuits, etc.

As we sat about waiting to move on, rumours spread of a rift between the S.S. and Wehrmacht, and of our going to a different camp in the Alps mountains. Thank God it was a false rumour. (Apparently it was to be for a last SS holdout and British and Canadian officers were to be hostages. We learned later that Churchill personally intervened to stop it.) On the weary POW's moved, through the sweltering afternoon, up and down steep, stony hills, singing now and then, laughing now and then, but cussing all of the time. 

Late in the afternoon, our haughty Hauptmann raised his fist to halt us beside a pretty, meandering stream, winding through a little valley of lush, green fields and beautiful forests. After a thorough wash I asked Smudge to watch our meagre belongings, as into the nearest hamlet prisoner 11543 strolled to acquire, or just plain steal, some food. The first of my adventures was seeing a pretty fraulein unloading some potatoes. Boldly I approached her and in my best gutteral accent said "Haben sei kartaffels, fraulein." Says she "Ja, ja, kreigagefangen", and into my jacket went the precious spuds, until I looked more like Colonel Blimp than H.D. Biggs. As this fraulein seemed so friendly, I carried on a further conversation and learned that her brother was a prisoner in Texas, of course I told her of their wonderful treatment, in the next breath asking for more food. Well, before leaving, she gave me a little oatmeal cake and a big bag of rough oats which Smudge and I sifted out in an old tin to boil into a form of porridge. 

The camp that evening was at a large farmhouse a mile off the road, a beautiful, peaceful spot. As we lay by the stream boiling tea, a large, buck deer strolled from the bush on the farther side of the water, proudly he walked back and forth, in such a beautiful setting, I began to think surely this is all a deadly dream, ‑ there just can't be horrible bombings, mangling artillery barrages and other deadly war machines at work, even as we sit in a natural, peaceful theatre of beauty, watching one of God's lovely creatures strutting about on the stage. Smudge and I sat up quite late, having a midnight brew, until a furious guard came along to crush our fire under his worn heel, thus necessitating our hurried withdrawal into the barn for a restless night's sleep. Early next morning, before dawn, we were swinging along a little side road toward the main highway. It was a morning one had to marvel at. The road wound along the crest of a steep hill as far away on either side stretched green fields and forests sleeping under a canopy of bluish mist. Even as we marched on the land began to yawn and stir in its first awakening, as little insects and birds hummed and sang joyfully. Even the most depressed kriegie raised his weary, bowed head in a burst of new joy and hopes. After an hour's trek, an old farmer drove along with a wagon of milk. Being real scroungers Smudge and I got a drink of fresh milk, boy, was it ever good. 

In the afternoon all the N.C.O's and officers were separated into different columns as our destination became quite near, but we were to spend one more night outside barbed wire, as lads had to be taken in stages to not overwhelm the camp guards. It was at a collection of barns that the fires began to magically appear, as coffee and tea boiled merrily away as we lay about pondering our fate. Just at seven o'clock a great force of American bombers passed over to weave a beautiful pattern of smoke bombs in the blue sky, not far from our camp. Salvo upon salvo of bombs hurling the Third Reich into hell and torture. 

Our senior British officer passed word around via the grapevine that all lads were to be sick and stall around as long an possible next morning before moving into Moosberg, as it was rumored that our armies were fast approaching. When the Hauptmann arrived early next morning, we were still sleeping, many lads were practically dying, while the rest of us weren't packed at all. Well, it was little Adolf the second as he screamed and ranted, brandishing his pistol. Of course we reasoned that he couldn't shoot us all. The stall was up just after dinner, when the Germans threatened to bring a detachment of S.S. troops in to shake us up, thus began our last few hours outside the hated barbed wire. 

In the afternoon, we swung through Moosberg, past curious civilians and into the sprawling stalag, our home for the next few weeks until General Patton stormed in to sow freedom in every prisoner's heart. Their procedure was searching, signing a few documents, showering, and then sitting in the courtyard until late in the evening, awaiting barracks. 

Opposite us was a sick ward of lads whose minds had gone, so heart‑breaking and pitiful to see, as they paced aimlessly back and forth.

Eventually our group was taken past the other compounds where the lads came to cheer us and into a dirty old barracks. Smudge and I managed to snag two bunks together. After splitting a can of Irish stew and a cup of tea, we fell fast asleep, rather thankful to at last be stopping for at least a few days.

Next morning found the British aircrew officers moved into a separate hut. Here I met a very good friend of mine from training days in Canada, gosh, he was as surprised as I. Each day at Moosberg went by the same as the previous one. Our bunks were just wooden frames covered by a few strips of metal, and a sack mattress plus two blankets. We were divided into groups of sixes for rations and cooking, each group building a big stone fire‑place. The usual day was an early six o’clock rising, roll call at eight, breakfast from the Red Cross boxes, washing clothes or writing, dinner, and usually laying in the sun till supper time. After supper we'd often go for a stroll about the compound, returning quite early to retire, as there was just nothing else to do. I sure got caught up on plenty of sleep. German rations here were a little better, consisting of a few potatoes, sauerkraut, and an eighth of a loaf of bread, with a Red Cross box per week. It wasn't too bad, Smudge even making the odd pudding. While wandering about I had the good fortune to meet two lads from the old squadron, who told me that I was promoted to Flight Lieutenant as of December 12th, a very cheering bit of news. Many lads made  frying pans, spoons, cigarette cases and many other ingenious devices from old tin cans. One chap even had a perfect, big oven fashioned from hundreds of old milk cans. At this camp I met Serbs, Russians, Frenchmen and Indians, the latter proving very interesting to watch as they combed their marvellous shining black hair, and coiled it up to be covered by many different colors of turbans‑they were most handsome and striking. 

As the days relentlessly slid by, the lads became more nervous as rumours again persisted of our being held as hostages by the SS.  It is then reported that the Allies are driving toward us just 10 kilometres away, on this the ___ (I can’t remember what date as I lost track of time). Pray God they arrive very soon. This morning I was outside the camp on wood detail down by the river, so beautiful and powerful as it wends its way, past  villages and green clad banks. This peaceful scene broken only by  arrogant, young Nazi guards, fully armed, guarding the rather vital bridge. Apparently the Jerries are going to fight. 

On the 25th at 16 o'clock in the evening, our commanding officer called us all together with the terribly depressing news that the Hun planned on moving us once more, farther south - probably to be held as hostages by the SS - into the Alps and we are to pack for a midnight departure. Once again it was a busy hum as our needles clicked in and out sewing up holes in our sacks and deciding what food to take. I'm sure everyone's heart was very heavy, with the prospect of liberation gone, and the idea of being with the desperate Jerries when they make their last bloody stand. 

It was with tremendous relief that we later heard no movement was to be made, as the British government had issued the Nazis an ultimatum not to move any more prisoners of war.

Once again our thoughts swung to the approaching army, many of us staying up till late in the evening to look for gun flashes in the northeast, which with the accompanying dull thud of artillery, was more than welcome.

During the day there is very little for us to do, as we sit about the fire frying potatoes, or making some other weird concoction, gossiping and betting on the date of our liberation. Our group of six are a great lot, everyone gets along fine. With the occasional issue of a ration of flour, our chief chef,  F/L Smudge Smith, my Oxford friend, bashes up a mixture of powdered milk, margarine and a spot of water, when fried it's not too difficult to imagine it being real home‑made pancakes. The compound about our barracks is dotted with brick fire‑places, which are kept very busy. Four o'clock tea is quite important here. How I'd love for you to be able to look down upon us—I'm  sure you'd not worry half as much. We are really quite a thriving colony of aliens in the centre of this most beautiful fragment of Hitler's dominions. The barracks are crowded with many lads sleeping on the floor, but we feel our minor hardships are not much compared to the brave lads who are still fighting.

The general atmosphere is optimistic and cheerful. April 27th bowed in with a, smiling sun and laughing blue sky – Bette’s birthday. How often I've imagined being with you on this day, but it's wonderful just being alive, and our loving thoughts can span many miles until all the Joes are back with their Bettys and Marys. 

Sunday opened with the hoarse scream of diving aircraft (the fighters came in from opposite directions attacking the camp guard towers), artillery and small arms fire, as excitement leaps from every pair of eyes which earnestly scan the surrounding hills, watching as tanks  crawl ant‑like down the slope into the town of Moosberg, and thence into the camp. Some bullets have whistled through the camp, and I can see the air raid trenches—each prisoner dug a hole for himself—jammed with lads, mostly American boys, but Smudge and I have four tins of potatoes a‑boiling, and after all, they are pretty important. It is now eleven o'clock, with the fighting died down somewhat, we've even heard that the Jerries have retired, after blowing the bridge. Soon freedom will come marching in to receive our tumultuous welcome. 

At exactly twelve‑fifteen, a great swarm of lads began to rush toward the front gates, in a mad scramble to see what is happening. Some one yells "My God! There's an American tank coming in" while yet another voice, vibrant with pent‑up emotion, is heard "I'll be damned. It looks like old brother Patton." Such a scene ‑ the whole camp of Russians, Serbs, Frenchmen, Indians, Americans and we Canadians, lining the long central entrance, on each other's shoulders, perched on the barrack roofs, clinging to every post or similar vantage point. I shall never forget it, as miraculously flags appeared from nowhere ‑ the French tri‑color, so proud in the whispering breeze, the Russian ensign, followed by the Union Jack and Stars and Stripes, as thunderous cheers broke the first tense silence.

 A monstrous tank began to move through the massive, barbed gate and slowly down our road and stopping as we surged about it cheering hoarsely, many lads getting the driver's autograph. Group Captain Willett, our Commanding Officer, and other ranking officers, sitting atop the lumbering battlewagon, smiling broadly. Freedom has come at last! I obtained the autograph of the tank driver on a slip of paper but somehow managed to lose it later.

As I first glimpsed the giant machine, something seemed to well up in my heart, akin to joy and happiness, but much more intense, and for a moment tears blinded my vision. To know that now the war is truly over for us, with no fear of bombing or strafing, or being marched again. Suddenly all the petty, little personal troubles sank into oblivion as something so much greater took over our thoughts—getting back to England and Canada—we'll be so impatient, but it won't be long now.

Soon the German guards were marched off to prison camps, as we settled down to wait for the journey home, quite restless and impatient. General Patton came into the camp in the afternoon, reportedly very impressive with the famous two guns slung on lean hips, announced a quick leavetaking for us, and every possible help during our days to be spent in the camp. (I can’t be positive it was Patton as he was some distance away and had a heavy guard.)

The next few days went by on leaden feet, as lads began to plan for monster celebrations when Mother England cradled us once more. White bread was brought in! It seemed just like cake. Loud speakers were set up all over the different compounds, so that it was a life of ease, lying in the sun, listening to lovely music.

One afternoon the radio blared forth announcing the European war to be over. It seems queer, but none of the lads were excited, and just said "Yeah! what about it? That's not helping us to get out of here."

A very selfish attitude, but you see our minds were so thronged with visions of loved ones, that such news sank from sight. On the night of May 10th the lads dragged large German wagons, sentry boxes, bunks, window shutters, in fact anything that could be moved, into the large compound where a giant inferno soon blazed away, quenching much latent hatred for our German enemies. We felt as though it was a symbol of the master race, drifting up to the blue sky to be scattered and dispersed by the four winds, never again to torment mankind. We were lucky the whole camp did not go up in flames as I remember the fire very nearly got totally out of control.

May 1l th was the day I got a pass to leave the camp to visit Moosberg, a village of shell‑pocked houses, narrow, dirty streets, and arrogant civilians. We were strongly warned to be very careful on short leaves as there had been serious injuries to anyone in allied uniforms. As I strolled about the village square the pocked church tower and numberless white flags were mute testimony of a passing, victorious army, while one corner of the square presented the sadder side of the struggle where numerous black swastikas marked the resting place of Nazi flyers, fallen to earth under Allied guns ‑ so tragic yet so necessary if love and decency is to live on. Here Karl Hauser lies, over in that far corner Max Grauten, and many in between, all mothers' sons, proud of their Fatherland, poisoned by the insidious influence of a master orator. Let us learn our lesson well, lest swastikas rise in our hallowed land,  with live Nazis under them! There were apparently 12,000 Russian troops in the camp and elements of these were said to be extremely difficult to control. It was reported there were rapes and other horrific acts as some broke loose.

The next day saw us rolling through many villages in American lorries to the landing field just outside Landshut. After listening to heavy artillery for the past week, it all seemed so quiet, but just as our truck turned into the aerodrome, a low flying German Dornier winged over, to the accompaniment of chattering ack‑ack fire. However, the plane landed safely, to become another Allied prize. I was able to go through the aircraft, which was most interesting.

Since weather proved our enemy, we were taken into Landshut to spend the night. German civilians were moved from their apartment houses as we moved in, climbing many narrow steps I came into a lovely apartment, with the table all set for supper, the stove blazing away and the tea pot singing. Quite suitable for we bachelors. Needless to say a good meal was enjoyed by all. Just as I gazed out the front window, a giant German transport plane flew directly overhead, as gunners in the street below opened fire. I remember having a strong feeling of horror and guilt at our conduct in so eagerly invading these civilian homes, especially as there was a lot of damage reported in some of the rooms requisitioned.

I learned later that the plane I had seen was shot down not far away. It seems some influential Germans were moving their families from Czechoslovakia, away from the S.S. troops, and this plane was a load of women and children. However, some later aircraft were allowed to land. On enquiry I learned this shooting was a terrible error but fortunately there were very few casualties. 

In the evening many lads roamed the streets. As I passed one large brewery, a great many airmen and soldiers could be seen leaving the building with small kegs of beer on their shoulders, what a sight for thirsty kriegies. All next day we laid about the aerodrome, awaiting transport. Once again, however, we had to stay in Deutschland. With two other lads I slept in a nearby barn, hoping that this would be our very last night under German skies. Early next morning large Dakotas arrived to carry us over this tortured land, over the deadly Siegfried line with its solid forts and jagged teeth.  (The crews were in front of their planes and believe it or not the pilot of the one I was assigned to was Harry Posluff, a school chum from Wingham. He recognized me and told me my parents were fine – thank God!) All the land was battlescarred as we flew about 2,000 feet on our way at last to security and freedom. 

The first stop was at Rheims, where at the transient American camp a meal was

served by German prisoners, a special treat to some of the more bitter lads. The French people waved and cheered as we drove by on the way to a second aerodrome, where  Lancasters lifted us smoothly into the sky, across France, the English Channel to merry England, and down at Westcott landing field. How our hearts beat to see our friends once more! 

I stooped to kiss the English soil. In England, we were given a very wonderful welcome. I returned to my squadron and was hustled off on leave as soon as possible. Gerry  (this was Gerry Haase – our wireless operator – whom I connected with at our squadron) and I hitchhiked through Southern England, visiting London, Beckenham, Warwick, Stratford, Cambridge and many other typical old country towns, drinking and eating being number one pastime. To be free once more was all that mattered.

Now I'm in my home land, after an uneventful crossing of the Atlantic, yes, happy to be back, but clinging still to many cherished memories of steadfast English and service friends, to England I shall forever owe a debt for kind understanding, hospitality, aye, even love. So this journal closes, hoping it proves even of a little interest to my most loved ones.

AFTERTHOUGHT:

The Battle of the Bulge was one of Hitler’s last gambles and if successful would have been a very serious and far reaching blow to the Allied Forces at a critical period of the war. The initial surprise thrust was spearheaded by approximately 250,000 seasoned troops (in 3 armies), one of which was led by Sepp Dietrich, a famous and ruthless S.S. panzer commander who didn’t take prisoners. The armies struck cohesively from the south east in a relatively small front aimed at splitting the Allied armies,  bypassing and partially ringing Paris with an ultimate objective of capturing the Port of Antwerp which was vital to the Allies as supply conduit to all their armies.

The outcome hung by a thread many times from the initial launch (I believe from December 16 to about December 30th) – it was a relatively short and very vicious battle duirng which American casualties were estimated in the 70-75,000 range as they bore the brunt of the attack. John Tolland’s book, “The Battle of the Bulge”, is I believe, the best one written on the battle.

I have added this paragraph to flesh out and explain my diary and remarks regarding German and allied wounded etc. as a little background to my fear of possible capture by the SS. Fortunately it was generally groundless.

July 1, 2002

EPILOGUE

I left England (with our wireless operator Jerry Haase – our rear gunner Chas Matthew had been repatriated to Canada in March for medical treatment) approximately June 1, 1945 on the troop ship Louis Pasteur from Portsmouth – it was a rather rough trip with sea sickness prevalent. I was assigned to a small cabin but poor Jerry had only a slung bunk in the lower part of the ship and to compensate we switched places regularly. I particularly remember a quite heavy storm when I asked and was allowed to go up on the fore deck – very exciting as I was so fortunate to avoid sea sickness.

We landed at Halifax early Sunday, June 9, 1945 and immediately put on a train to Toronto via Dorval and arrived in Dorval that afternoon and sent a telegram to Bette to advise of our Toronto arrival. An air force officer made presentations there on the urgent need for experienced navigators in the far East, so I volunteered. Fortunately the war there ended before I got called up. In this regard, I can’t forget a later incident when Bette and I came out of Loews theatre at Queen and Yonge Street and everyone on Yonge Street was celebrating the end of the far East war. I then told Bette I had enlisted for it at Dorval and she exploded with rage and called me a damn fool and a lot more!

I arrived at Union Station in Toronto at approximately 8pm on June 15, 1945. I believe we were the first batch of air force POW’s to arrive there and I think I was in the first group to turn from the exit tunnel into the main foyer. It was absolutely jammed with relatives etc. and while jostling through the masses I was suddenly hit and grabbed by a whirlwind. It was Bette who had forced her way through and had been helped by a guard. God knows how she spotted me! (Imagine the excitement and thrill – the remembrance still brings tears...). Jim (Bette’s sister’s fiancee) drove us to Bette’s house up University Avenue to 30 Highview Crescent. I remember I couldn’t believe the street lights. I think I was still in some kind of bubble of disbelief that I was truly back at last!

The next day we took the train to my hometown, Wingham. I had phoned  my parents from Bette’s place regarding our approximate noon arrival time. I vividly remember the conductor looking out of the side door as the train slowed for Wingham and said, “I think you’d better keep going”. It seemed that the whole town was there. My parents told me later that the local radio station had been notified and had broadcast the arrival time and that the high school students had been let out to meet the train if they wished. Remember Wingham is a relatively small town and I guess it was a novelty for some people. I believe I was one of the first POW’s to return and had been a public and high school pupil and scout member and we had lived in Wingham for some years. Also my brother Percy, an air force officer had been killed early in the war in December 1942 and was buried mid-April 1943 at Wingham with a full military funeral. I’m sure it was a coming together of all these factors that prompted this wonderful welcome and I’ve no doubt it was repeated for other returned veterans. I just happened to arrive home early and it was noted as quite a coincidence that I went missing also in December and Bette was first notified of my POW status in April, just three days before her birthday. Suffice to say it was extremely emotional and heart warming, especially coming so soon after the equally moving experience at Union Station.

I stayed in Wingham for 2 – 3 weeks while Bette returned to her job at CIL in Toronto and she returned the July 1st weekend when we decided to get married as my wireless operator, Jerry, had invited us to visit his home in New Jersey. We thought we could make it a honeymoon trip particularly as the house was in an exciting resort area close to New York. I should mention here that we had become engaged in mid October 1943 just before I went overseas. I proposed on bended knees during a walk up the local railroad track and later sent monthly payments from overseas to Birks Jewellers on Yonge Street where she got her $125. ring to seal the deal. We were married July 7, 1945 very quietly at my house in Wingham. Our guests were Bette’s parents, her sister and fiancee, my best friend Jim Hamilton and his wife Betty Lloyd and of course the United Church minister, Reverend Beecroft and my parents. (Jim and I had graduated and gone overseas together).

We spent our wedding night at the Royal York Hotel in Toronto and next morning took the train to Peekskill, NY state via Buffalo. I remember being quite embarrassed at Buffalo where we were asked to change trains. There was a long line up for the train and a station guard picked us out and placed us at the front of the line up, apparently because of the uniform. At Peekskill Jerry met us and drove us to a small suite they had rented for us, quite close to a beautiful inn, the White Sail Inn on Lake Mahopec, managed by Jerry’s father. We had all our meals there as  personal guests of Jerry’s father who had been a German officer in the German submarine force in WWI. We were wined and dined in the inn facilities, lovely bar, dance floor, pool etc. The Inn was noted as often having stage and screen guests and personally autographed pictures of famous people were displayed throughout as evidence of this.

How very fortunate we were to receive such heart warming  treatment – we will never forget out time there. Some things we enjoyed especially:

a) A major league ball game at Yankee Stadium – Vic Rache pitching for New York – we were taken up via a special elevator used by members of the Yankee Club. There was an enormous circling bar backed by large framed pictures of Yankee greats – Diemaggio, Berra etc. For seats we had a box belonging to one of the NY banks.

b) To Radio City Music Hall to see the famous Rockettes

c) To enjoy Harry James band at the Waldorf Astoria where again, I believe due to my Canadian uniform, we were given a ringside table and a nearby table sent us a complimentary bottle of wine

d) Visited the famous and very beautiful Cathedral Church of the Divine and then across the bay by boat to see Brooklyn, the Statue of Liberty etc.

e) Several side trips to beautiful, unique areas along the Hudson River north of NY.

An incredibly period due in part to the general euphoria of the war’s conclusion and our luck in having such kind and generous hosts!

Unfortunately, approximately two weeks after our return, on or about August 15/45, I suddenly became quite sick (extreme weakness and according to Bette an almost green pallor). I was hurried to Christie St. Hospital and later to the convalescent hospital at the Guild of All Arts on the Scarboro Bluffs where I was given insulin shock and other treatments prior to my release on December 1, 1945. We moved immediately from Bette’s home to 78 Woodycrest Avenue which we had purchased in the late fall for $5500. We rented the top two floors to help with expenses and to pay off more quickly a large mortgage. Here our three gorgeous girls were born and where we stayed until 1960 before moving to 36 Ballacaine Drive in the South Kingsway area.

I resumed work as a lowly junior clerk at the Yonge and Teddington Park branch of the Toronto Dominion Bank and for the first year they very kindly let me leave at any time of the day. I recovered fully very gradually except for recurring nightmares for some years. Apparently my inner sensibilities and values in life were abnormally incompatible with war experiences. I had hoped and planned to go through for law but was strongly advised by the hospital doctor to forget it. It simply, in their considered opinion, was not an option for me in the foreseeable future and Bette was in strong agreement with their opinions.

I had been honorably discharged on December 1, 1945, (the day I left the hospital) as a Flight Lieutenant and in the spring of 1946 for some unfathomable reason was given a Distinguished Flying Cross presented (with others) by the Governor General at the RCAF Staff College on Avenue Road, Toronto. Via the bank I had become acquainted with the famous Johnnie Johnston who was attending the Staff College and he very kindly escorted us through the reception and gave us a tour of the College. He had been a very distinguished British Battle of Britain flying ace.

I should mention too that I did go as soon as possible after returning to see Joe Tite’s parents in London and also Red Davies (our co-pilot and bomb aimer) and we kept in touch with the Mathews to follow his progress in the hospital. Unfortunately I could not contact relatives of the other crew members killed. Jerry married his childhood sweetheart, Mary, in 1948 and they visited us at our home at 78 Woodycrest (they had settled in Patterson, New Jersey). Jerry also visited us at 36 Ballacaine and went on to see Matty in Montreal during Expo 1967. Then one day in 1971 at my office at Yonge and Eglington branch I was asked by a Bell telephone operator to receive a long distance call at 7pm. It was a conference call with Jerry and Matty. Everything seemed normal but Jerry’s wife later told us that it had been Jerry’s last wish as he passed away shortly after the call. A very poignant and precious memory for me and one I will never forget. Our crew was a very special extra family for each of us and all of us treasured our war time together in that light.

During Jerry’s visit he gave me his version of events in the aircraft at attack time. He confirmed that after the initial shooting we immediately went into an uncontrollable spin – he saw me apparently get hit and  while prone, flailing against the side of the aircraft. He thought I was finished as the centrifugal force of the spin restricted movement and flames were spreading rapidly. He saw no chance of escape, put his head down on his desk waiting for the inevitable. Instead he landed apparently unconcscious and completely unhurt some distance from the wreckage with his open chute wrapped around him. In his view the two of us were together near the main spar of the aircraft and somehow as it broke up we were both sucked out – likely he was first as his chute must have been open at a higher altitude than mine as he had drifted away from the aircraft whereas I landed very close to the full wreckage. He has no recall of opening his chute while I clearly recall opening mine. In this regard one of the orderlies in the German hospital I was first taken to spoke English and told me the doctor estimated via my pelvic and leg injuries that my chute likely opened 800-1000 feet (ie. quite low) and that if the head wound (presumably a bullet) had been slightly lower I’d have been killed instantly. All this seems to tie in with Matty’s reasoning.

Regarding the pelvic injury later Xrays after my return, which I was shown, clearly revealed a jagged fracture line at an unusual angle and I was told one leg measured a little shorter than the other.  Bett often noticed this and joked about me in a kindly way as I walked. Over the years there had been gradual improvement except for periodic incapacitation. The feeling is that I was going on adrenalin at first but with some rest gradual self healing was in progress. In regard to the unexpected kindly treatment I believe it was influenced by the Christmas season. We had been warned to expect the worst and in fact that is what Matty got shortly after he was discovered. Particulars will no doubt appear in the book his family is having  written by a lady, Tracy Ariel, who has written a book on the Canadian involvement in the Vietnam war. She is a family friend and, with Matty’s son John, an executive at IBM, is doing the research. Tracy interviewed Bett and I at length in Ottawa on tape and now has a diary copy, my DFC citation, and my German record form from Stalag XIIA with photo, finger prints, physical details including injuries etc. (I believe this record form came to me from the Red Cross after I had returned home.)

I have tried throughout to be as factual as possible and even after some 58 years the story in totality seems unreal and in some unknown way which I can’t begin to understand has resonances of the miracle of Christmas. I guess we’ll never really know why some were spared purely by fate and others not. It is all a great mystery, perhaps for the best.

MY RANDOM MUSINGS AND POEMS WRITTEN DURING THE WAR

MORAL RE‑ARMAMENT

We have ceased to take an active part in the war, 

we have become spectators as the drama draws to its close. 

We  have time to think and to plan for the years ahead. 

For our future security and happiness a new spirit must overcome the world. 

There will be days of sunshine and thunder ahead, there will be those who wish to

thwart our efforts, we need fighters on a world front who will fight to the last man to ensure that the sacrifice of this war has not been in vain.

Soon the march of men and arms will turn homewards, but ideas, like men and arms can march too. 

Ideas have legs. Like paratroopers in the night, they can capture a nation and steer its course. 

What big idea have we for the future?

Once China built a wall. She laughed at her enemies from behind it. But an Invader came from the north. They did not storm the wall—they simply bribed the gatekeeper. Walls were not enough.

Yesterday—the Maginot line—France felt secure behind it. But a gap was found. 

The gap was not in the wall, but in the spirits of the people. Steel and stone were not enough.

Today we fight with ships, planes and guns. When Europe stops fighting, there will be a vacuum to fill, what big ideas have we got to fill it with. Have Britain and America the one idea which will capture the minds and hearts of their millions?

IN THE HOME:

Home where the welcome sign is always out, where meals are not just 'gulp and go,’ but where the conversation is as good as the food. Homes which are much more than just a parking place by night and a filling station by day. Homes where there is a real honesty amongst the family, where neighbours can drop in for a loaf of bread and get real friendship as well, home where discipline and caring replace drift and coldness of heart. Homes based on the tradition of loyalty and courage. Such homes will form the bulwarks of the nation, they will be impregnable fortresses where every man for himself becomes every man for his country—in Britain—land of green fields and towering cliffs—land of Drake and Cromwell, Shakespeare, Pitt and Nelson—America‑land of prairie, of mighty cities—land of Lincoln, Jefferson, the Pilgrim Fathers and Washington.

AMONGST NATIONS:

The trouble with nations is human relations, especlally you and me. Why can't nations live together as one big family. A humorist answer, "the trouble is they do.” Troubles, we shall always have, yet honesty and unselfishness are unrationed, honest apology is the highroad to honest peace. Are we, Britons and Americans, always honest and unselfish? When will father quit his grousing and mother's spring hat match her new heart?

Change means personal as well as national, a revolution in you and me. When we live to keep each other up to the highest standards, we know and stop spotlighting the other fellows sin.

William Penn said. "If men don't listen to God, they will be ruled by tyrants."

Unite—new men—new nations, a new world, start the pull‑together‑spirit, wherever you are, wherever you go. Unite with your family  your neighbors, and with your country to unite the nations. Teamwork cannot be practiced on your own. Our post‑war plans will fail, unless the members of the new international organization find together this spirit.

However good its ideals, all the members must know the secret of living and working together. It will take a super force‑‑you and I can set the pace.

FIGHT

Britons have always been fighters‑powder and musket once hung above every door. We can be fighters ever, fight for a new morale in your home, street, office, farm. Shoot every rumor dead on sight. With the old world crashing to ruins, the fight for the newworld will go on.

IF GOD FORGOT

 (scratched in a POW camp)

If God forgot

Each morn to wake the sun

To tie the knot

Of love twixt bird and flower

To whisperto the sleeping rose

Asleep ‘neath glistening white

To wake and spread her crimson robe

Neath sky diffused with heavenly light

To send a cherub winging far

On snowy wings of finest down

To sprinkle light on every star

And make of heaven a glittering town

To send each gossiping little brook

O’er land unseen by human eye

To find its way with searching look

And come to ocean bye and bye

T’would be a world so sad and drear

With only frail humanity to steer

Let’s stop and think and try to be

As God intended man to be

Let us remember how poor we’d be

If God forgot.

THOUGHTS

As I look down this dreaming lane

Does God look down with searching brain

And plan each little insects flight

And weave such glory neath our sight

As roses climbing to the sky

Togazeon skylarks wheeling high

Through filmy gates of wide flying space

That summons man and all his race

To raise his eyes and look anew

And count our blessings two by two

The stately trees, how tall they stand

Raised from the earth by an unseen hand

Why can’t we, each in our place

Raise seeds of love and shining grace

The flowers gossiping in the sun

No two alike, yet made by one

We’re just the same, the human race

Yet do we have such a smiling face

DREAMING

I’m dreaming neath this tall gaunt pine

Of life and laughter, of glorious times

Of carpeted fields, of beckoning lanes

Of marching skies, of sweeping rain

I’m dreaming, you see, of one so dear

Dear God, how else can I bring her near

Twas here she touched her lips to mine

Our love was pledged through earthly time.

THE SHINING LIGHT (one day I was dying for a drink)

Twas in the glare of shining light

That first she crept into my sight

The rain beat down with clenched fist

Yet fate was kind by a curious twist

The shops were dark, the heart was cold

As I slouched along, with thoughts of old

Of the days when a man sang “Auld Lang Syne”

His hands held high with a well filled stein

But here I am on this lonely street

With a dry, dry throat and wet, wet feet

But she came to me in the shining light

Dropped by a bootlegger in his flight

Such a sight to a man as I

A glistening bottle of Bourbon rye


